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THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
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Before HON. THOMAS C. T, CRAIW,
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the further trial of the cese umtil mw,

Jenuery 29th, 1907, at 10,30 o'cmn;(\ Ao M.




EARYER WEISS s being called és & wam”“‘

half of the People, and duly sworn, "* 1@ 3

Official Interpreter DOllin, ae tﬁllw-:
DIRECT EXAMINATIOH BY MR, O*CONNOR:
Q Where 4o you live? A 729 East Ninth Streets
Q In the County of New York? A Yes, n:lr.
Q@ Vhat is your business? A Baker.
Q And' where are you empldyed? A. For five months
I have not been workinge o
| Q Now, on the 15th day of September, ;906, where were
you employed? A RoOckwell's bakery.
Q@ Where is that? A East 75th Street, 429.
Q How old a;e you? A Twentye l
Q DO you know this defendant &t the bar here, I-owut
Ackervitz? A Yes. e | '
Q How long heve you known him? A Nine months.
Q Did he work in Rockwell's baekry with you? A Yes,
four months we worked together, in the blkiryo
Q Now, on the 15th of September, 1906, did you have

some trouble with Ackewitz? A Yes.
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the bakery? A It was a quarter to0 threes

the defendant? A We were both clesning the bakery,

MR, FINSOHN: May I ask to have m istrict

Attorney congine himself to the hour of the d.’*

MR, O'CONNOR: I do not know the hW Of m

THE COURT: If the answer is not -ma '.

s definite, a further quution can be nkuh

> A Ve had some difficulty im the blkory. tﬂ hh ila‘kﬁ
already in the bakeny, and I came out of the hlkwg

Q@ What time of day was 1t that you had thl tr‘thln tu

Q In the day? A In the night tiq.

Q No, nos A | Well, in the morning.

Q A quarter of three inm theA morning? A Ybuo . .
Q Three A. M.? A Yes‘.”

Q Tell us what took place in the bakery between you nu

end all the sweeping that I did, he threw 1t back to me, van& |
I did once throw the sweepingé back tolhim; thenvh; c ommenced
to beat me. .
Q Vith what did he beat you? A With the brush, that
we used to put the flour togethers '
Q Wheat did you do when the defendant beat you with the ;_'
brusgh? A I didn't do anything to him. S

Q Well, did you and the defendant remain. in the bahw
4 uz
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 after he had struck you with the brush? A We

of the house where I lived.

4street,_where the bakery is, the same streete ' i

until three o'clocke | ‘
THE COURT: I thought he said that this h
at three. ' ok

MR, O'CONNOR: A quarter of three, your Iﬁiﬁn§f3.

Q What time did you leave the bakery? A t}étﬁﬁiig
otclock I fiﬁished end I went a-ny.h _ o
Q Now, where did you gd to? A I went hq-iiv .'1 S
Q Did you go home, Or did you meet the déf.gﬂgat 5’*‘”& 
you got home? A wves, sir,‘i met hin,-betc;;-e b § wént,h.ﬂ;ﬂ‘v
Q Where did he ﬁeet you? A I was lténding &t the door j

s

Q Where did you live et that time? A 415 Hast 75th

Q In the COunty of New York? A Yes, esir.

Q Now, you say you were standing at ths“doorg,'qggg'

&

A6

the defendant there? - A While I was stending at,thn‘hoﬁné,»’
fﬁr about five minutee,jbefOre he came-- |

Q Yes? A I remained at the QOOr; becauae'it'pnﬁ i;fy,
warm, to get--

Q vwWever mind the reason? A I remasined at the door,
standing. .

Q Did the defendant come up to whﬁre you were atandta'§ 

MR, FINSOHN: Objected to as leadinge |

Question withdrawne



 witness here, snd I asked h:l.n the defendant, W h. 'hlf W;

- & knifee I did not see the knife firste

Q Did you see the defendant while you '.“

the door? A Yes, jir, he came upe

Q we came up, and did he say auym to ”l mll M"'—
came up to you? A He did not spesk to mee ‘

Q Well, did he do¢ anything to you? A Vot at MT

Q Well, what happened? A He came with & man who

At that time he had a loaf of bread under his arno ﬁn, ﬁ
did not say anything to him, and he threw that brm am |

near the door. Then he. immediately stabbod no*in the ayi‘tﬂ&,

Q  Well, did you see the knifo in his hand? A  !‘;;j”
after I saw the knife in hia hando |
@ Where were you struck?

MR, FINSOHN: I Object to thate He 1|'cﬁn£'?d in
the indictment merely with stabbing him in the eye, and
impairing his eyesight, and with nothing olla, and I
Oobject to any testimony &s to Other inJuriolo

THE COURT: 1If that is so I will sustain the

ObJection.

MR, O'CONNOR: If your HOnor please, I will read the
second count in the indictment. The second count reads,
#hat said Leopolt Ackovitz, late of the Borough of
Manhattan aforesald, on the day and year arOr;naid,

diad upon one Sander Weiss, make an assault, etc."



Tm comré Yes, then I chrnd; the MM‘W
MR, EINSOHN: Bxoeptioms ’ |
BY MR, O'CONNOR: \ .

Q@ I ask you the questi on, where did» tﬁt C“Mﬁt y
strike you; 'whét part of the eye? 'A Herej (iﬂm
this left eye, he just s‘tat»:bed it out iiﬁh lhifmu |

Q ‘Wheré else did he cut you with the ?alfo? A
he stabbed m: aidowa'-;rs i‘n’ the eye, and threw the ir'o out,
Puslied the eye out; then he stabbed me rrﬁ below nn-rA m k,
nose, upwards to the eyee. | | - |

Q And where else? A Then he stabbed me on the back=
side ‘of my head twice, crOanipo ;3 1t was oc'“.'up, the
wound wase »
BY THE COURTé ‘

Qv HOw many times did he stab you altogether? A 8Six
timews » | :
BY‘ MR. O'CCNNOR:

Q Now, after’you had been ‘sta'bbed six times, what becw
came OoOf you? A I fell down on the sidewsalk.

Q Were there any oOther pérsons afmnd there at the
time be sides yourself and the datenﬁant? A Ohly the wite
ness who is here was with him, ahd nobody elsee
BY THE coum'ﬁ

Q And when you say "him", you mean the defendant?

A The deferndate
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BY MR, O°CONNOR: | |
Q Vhere did you éqto after you fell down; tli‘you;gii_‘
up? A The last stab he gave me was in the ?mdk'hiﬂl the
- knife, and he tried to stab me in the stomach, and I got ui "
immediately. | Well, I was dazed, snd I ran away. Then I
was calling ?or police, &snd apoliceman came up. ' |
W o . Q When you saw the policemsn, did you speak to the
poOliceman? A Yese |
Q NOw, did you go any place with the policeman?
A I was taken bak to the bakéry. ’
Q Was the defendant there when you went bnck to tl}c
‘b akery with the policéman? A lo,‘hn.wni,hﬂlo alreadys
THE COURT§ Strike Out"he wa§ home aireadﬁ-'
He was not in the bakerye.
Q Were you taken to the hospital from the bakery?
A An ambulance took me to the hospital e
Q When did you next see the defendant? A At six
o'clock, in the hospital, where I was, and the detective
brought the deferndent there.
Q That was On the morning of the 15the You do not
understand English, do you? A Yes, I understand Englishe
Q Well, wéa anything said in English to youyby the
policeman in the presence of the deferdant?
. MR, BINSOHN: I Object to what the policemsn saide

THE COURT: I will &llow it if it was said in the
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presence of the defendante . |
A The policemsn asked me if this is ﬁt m
defendant, in Englishe Before I.nn"nrod“ﬁhm )
himeelf said, "I stabbedhim."

Q That is what the defendant said? A Toes

Q HOw long did you remain in éha,ho-pitui? Vﬁ'*“
six or seven days in the hospital a .

Q@ Then, did you appear in the police donri?  l'
gir. I was hamdaipgell yet and 1 vgeu_f to the courts : |
Q Now, is your eye out? A I had an OPOrlttOGVleiﬁﬁﬂﬁ

eyee There is no eye theres The eyeball is out.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BINSOHN:

Q HOw old are you, Mr, Veiu? A Twenty.

Q Are you sure you &re not more? A lbm

Q DO you remeﬁiber the age you gaie in the Police ﬁ!urt?
A I don't recollect what I samid, but I hﬁ;e my certificate »
of birth. ‘

Q Didn't you‘sqy in the police court that ybu were
twenty-five years 0ld? A No, sir, that is a 119.-

THE COURT: Strike Qut the answer okcopt-'no, sir."

Q How much d¢ you weigh, Mr, Weige? o I don't know; l
I diéd not weigh myeself.

Q Have you any idea how much you'veigh? A You may

weigh me, then you will know ite I never tried to weigh
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Q DO you think you weigh 180 pounde?

MR, O'CONNOR: Objeeted to.
THE COURT: Oijoction sustaineds The jury i

the COurt see ﬁm witnese and they can ﬂ!:l i‘l

of his size from his general appeira'm&‘o e t

Q HOw long have you been s bak{'er?_ A Six n&l‘b '

@) And how long have you been in this coutry?
A This is the third years. ’

THE COURT: I think it is proper for you,
counsellor, perhap's to get upon the record, :ud ﬂi wm

‘be conceded by the Dhtriét At‘tér_ney, that thit m

man Of about a certain height and a certain 'o.ightA.

MR, O'CONNOR: Yes. Stand upe ‘
THE COURT: About five feet six imches; weight
about 145 poundse.

Q HOw much salary were you getting, lr.. VWeiee, in
Rockweli's bakery? A When there was no holiday=~~- wcll,'
'I earned $14 & weeke |

Q DO you know how much salary Ackovitz was getting
there? A I don't caree I didn't inquire.

x BY THE COURT: |
| Q@ Just yes Or no. A I don't knév.
BY MR, FINSOHN:

Q VWere your relations with Ackovitz friendly be fore



.Biptcﬂor 15th or not? A T was not friendly.
BY THE COURT:
Q. Now, see if you understend the word "fri

)

Sometimes the ‘word "friemdly", to & foreigner l‘muiﬁi_f
ship". A Well, I did not associate with hime I ¢
a quarrel with hime \¥ |
BY MR. EINSOHN: :

¢ Were you on good terms with him? A, He :
tried to tease me, but I didn't givehim & Ohaa§0-~A . |

Q Then, because he tried to tease you, you'-bri~i¢G.-*i§‘
very friendly t'o him, were you? A I did not act »fﬂ m :
friendly; did not act to him in an unfriendly way; I ‘u |
nbt telk to him at &ll. 7 o

MR, EINSOHN: I ask tOIstrike that out.
‘THE COURT: I thimnk itvie responsivee. _

Q Did you resent the fact that he‘usod t0 tease yoﬂf
A No, sir, I did not get angry about ite |

Q» On September 15th, at about the lunch hour=-- when
did you have lunch on September 15th? A At'ﬁ o'clock in v
the evening, we had something t0 cate

Q What part of the bakery are you employed in, near
the place where Ackovitz works? A The place where I
worked, he came sometimes to tﬁat place, but not.lltiyno

He was not always in that place.

Q On September 16th, et lunch hour, did you have any
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him? A No, sir, it is none Of my business; T aidn't

conversation with him? A Yes, sir, we talkeds .
 Q Did you have any dispute there? A Well, ‘m

to incite me again, ot the mesal.

Q Did you meke any remarks in regard to what he ﬂ
eating, es to what food hkwtt.z was eating? e
Tm%coun'r: "fxen wae this counsellor, mm :

MR, FINSOHN: The same dgs | <

A pe talked tO me about ite ‘I didn't uyuwm

to him about it.

o«

'Q Did you say to him, "YOu are eating eorned beef :
sandwiches; you are s0 think why don't you eat io.tmu. b

decent; why dO you save your money?® Did you say that to

say to him anything about 1t.‘

Q@ Now, about a quarter of three; jroﬁ say you began to
clean up? A VWell, we cleaned it together, wat lve did
not finish it altogether.

Q VWere you both cleaning in the same part of the-rw |
A Yea', sir, the foreman sent me there to ‘claan‘, to sweep.

Q You say that he struck you with the brush, is thnt
right? A Yes, sir, he hit me on my feety with it.

Q You did not proveoke that in any way, did you; did
you sweep any of the dust on him? A As 1 said boforc,
three times he threw the sweepings at me, and I threw the

sweepings Once back, &8 I said befores
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'Q You are sure you wn‘no{ the first tt mtﬁ »
sweepings On Ackovitz, sre you? A we first MM
at me three times, snd then I threw it back Mo _ ‘

Q You stated om your diroet examination tlut mll ‘he
hit you with the brush, you did not say nnythiu &t all w
him;  you did not say to0 him, "Why did you strike h?" M y
 he struck you with the brush? A He hit me on “ocﬂlt;
because I threw the ofeopihga back once. Thlt ie m ‘he

hit me.

' Q And you did not try to hit him back then, ‘1&2‘&!
A No.

Q 'Now, you stated that at lunch hour,' you had t”“
anwereation with the defendant, some dispute. vill you |
state what that conversation was? A» well, h; a,l’n.y.o'tcm
to me, but I did not talk to hime ‘

Q What did he say? A He made that (indicsting) with
‘hie haend; that way (indiceting) to ridicule me. He m.,
"You are eating a Jewish meal." »

BY THE COURT:

Q Vhat is that? A "You are eating & Jewish meal,"

and he made that with his hands, that way (indicating).
BY MR, FEINSOHN:

Q What did you say? A I did not snswer hime T was

talking to the others. I did not answer him.
~ ;

Q Whenever he acted, teasing you that way, you newver
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comiomptear=:

_answored him, is that right? A I talked $0 the o

not to hime i
Q Whenever he teased you, you paid no .
him, but kept on dimzarding him, and talking ‘“ of
people, is that right? A Yese '
' Q Now, at three o' l°qk in the -wrnlng, you le
bakery, is that rightt A Tese . ¢ e
Q@ When did you begin to'work that night? A At “
o'clock in the afternoon. * i |
Q And you had therefore been working for fthi-!{toﬂl _

hours, 15 that r:ig’ht, that day? A yoo,'nra

Q And how far from the bakery did you u'v‘ﬂ l ,;i
a blocke It is not the distance of & blocke

Q Is your work in the bakery wvery difficult? A !u
Not hard work; it is not hard worke | » |

Q,. Af ter iorkirgg.for thirteen hours, .youm were not tired
at all, were you? A No, I;w_aa not. |

Q And in working, do you have to take part of your
clothes Off on account Of the extreme heat in the fplaco? |
A We work only in a shirte |

Q And isn't it as a matter of fact, your work in the
ba_ukery , very difficult ? A VWell, it is not very diff
hard work there, becsuse it is worked by mechiness

Q But you had to attend to the machines right alm in

the thirteen hours? A No, I don't stand at the mschines



'ho machine is separate.

A Not bread; rollsg all kinds ot r0110. :

Q, Well, whet do you do; what were ytiv'ﬂ
;p:l.nce‘?I A 1 formed the bro.d, rollto e
Q How long did you have for lunch? A' Half “
Q And for the rest, twelve and a half htn!'h, M*

worked continuously baking Wwesad that nlcht, dia M

Q . And you worked wntinuously there for mlw M -
half houra, did you? A vyese

q And thel"efore you were tir.d at thm “d M' AP

you quit the place, weren't you? A lo a:lr, 1 ﬂ. ”"-_“r»«-;_
at three o'clocke ' : &
Q Do you méaﬁ to say to, this Jury §Mt nftar' tlﬂannﬂ '
& half hours work in making b.read’,'you,did. not feel tired at
the end of that time? A I worked at Other times eighteen
hours, and I was not tireds.
MR, EINSOHN: I move to strike out the answer as
not responsivee. ‘ o (9
THE COURT: We will leav; in the part which njm
"I was not tired,” and strike out the balances
Q Now,' what did you 40 when you left the bakery; did
you go right home? A Yes, I went directly to my door, amd
-there I atOpped. To the door where I lived.
Q YOu left Ackovitz in the place, did you? A He re=~

maired in the bakerye.



Q How long were you standing there at y¢
A Avout two minutess

Q And in what position did you leave
was up -in the place; was he all drouﬂ'-m to go

A I didn't see him, because I was in a mr&q‘-

Q You stated on your direct exanlnntlia'iﬁﬁﬁ
at your place for tiv‘.e»minutes.- low.‘ hwlmdi& A
at your door,for tive ninutes or tw n!.nnMQ l!
‘t:lme ite I did not have a watch with me to tm wﬂf
llay’oe four minutes, maybe three minutes, uybc rm ut

Q Are you sure it was not t'enty-fiio ntnutm li
sir. . : i

Q 1t was le ssthan tyenty-five minutes? .A It matl
much as I saide = |

Q@ Are you 'sfure it was not ten minutes? A 71t ul'n:‘
much as I aa:ld beforee i

Q And how much did you say before that it was?
A Three minutes, or maybe four minutes.

Q Are youvaure it was not five minutes? A T don't
know for suree

Q You doa't_ fcnow; it may have been five minutes then?
A No, eir, three or four minutes.

Q You stated a little while ago that 1t uny have b”n
five minutes, didn't you? A No; I don't mo'.

Q Whet were you waiting there for? A I used t0 stand
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A Yes, sir, I always stand there at the door when

- from the bakery.

A A A A A R S

is not far from the bnkcry, so I -tmu lt ’Iﬁ hﬁ',

c00l off.

Q You stopped to get some fresh air, is that r:

Q Every night you stand by the door nitm te M'
fresh air when you ocme from the bakery? A '011 : éaa!t
tell exactly every ewening, but most omniu;s I st .t m
doore When it is very warm I always 'rcunmi at t_ho doﬂ"g’
little whiles | _ | | T

Q And do you make it a hahit on mry nal &ly Atov 'm
in front of your place? A Yos; air;. | _

Q Youl never miss a night? . A I always do thltl when .
it was very'warm. :

Q Now, isn't -1t & fact, l(i. Weiss, £Mt you uto wait=-
ing there for Ackovitz to come Out Of the bakery? A No,
aif, I did not wait for him. - '

Q Did not wait for him at all? A Noe

Q ‘And when he passed you, you state that he fimodiato‘-‘
ly took out é knife and went Ovér to you and jabbed ‘y'oulll
the eye, is that right? A He reminea standing, when he
was near me, and I was about to0 ask him-- 1 wanted to ask

him what he wants with me, because he beat me already in



the bakerye b0
Q Therefore, when you stated htbn: m

waiting for Ackovitz, you lied, didn't ,'.“. you

upi, and then I had the intention t0 ask him what he
of me, what is the m tter with hime K
Q In Other words, you were 'iiting*ror Animﬁt%éi
him what he wanted of yow? A No, lir,ﬂl‘didéiﬁtiiiifiiﬁ,,
on that account. . ‘ | |
Q Didn't you state a little while ago tﬂ:t you 'ultﬁ‘l

for Ackovitz to find out what he always wanted tren.yéi?'-

A No, .I did not say s0Oe . :
Q Did you have any conversaticn with him as he puiid
"you? A VWell, when he came up to me, I intended to ask hllo
Q You intended to ask him something, amnd before you
asked you anything, he went and pu.lled out a knife and
Jabbedyou in the eye with it? A When I saw thaf:hl
threw down the bread, then I did not want to ask him any nOr
Q Did you have your coat off while you vere'—atandiu"
there? A I was st'anding there without a coat. v
Q You u}e nt out of the bakery with your c‘oat, didn't |
you? A No, I'did not g0 to the bakery with a c;oat,
because I”J.:lved very nearbys I went there without a coate |
Q Did you have bread in your had when you left the

bakery? A No. I did not take any bread from the bakerys
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take two loaves of bread from the bakery ewery night

they leave? A I ama single permon, and zmm ne

and s0o I did not take anye ‘ _,

THE COURT: Strike that oute It is not respos

sivee. Repeat the questions i ' _

Q (Question repeateds) A 1t 1.‘ not °“tum

One place you 'may take bread, and 1h ‘another plut )
want bread you have to pay for ite. : V 7

Q Did all the rest of the rozk:‘nn.tah’brm hm rm ;

the bakery every morning?

MR, OYCONNOR: I camot see the m teriality of ‘
tﬁia, if your HOpnor pleases . ; |

THE COURT: COunsell, I vént to give you the very
utmost latitude in your cross eantion, because -
the liberty of the defendsnt may depend upﬁﬁ thorough
examinati 6n of the case, but I auggeaf. to you that your
present line of inquiry is seemingly immaterial.
Now, if you have a good motive for it, the reason for
it I will not askyou to disal ose, and you can proceeds
I do not ask you to disclose the re'asOn. You may
proceed a little further with this line, but there is a
limit to ite .
Q Did you take some Wwead home from that bakery that

\

morning, and did you go upstairs and leave the bread im your %



house, and did you come down afterwards and wa

vitz? A No, that is not sos e
Q Now, wheu Ackovitz approached you, as M'M
ing at the door, did you make nuy attomt to utrm w'"
A TNo, sir. |
Q Did you, as & matter or'rhct,.htt hﬂ— bldhﬁiaf
hit you in the eye with a knife? A 1 holdwnﬂ MQW
that he should not stab me, to prevent hhl‘frﬁi iﬁlﬁ%liﬁf%h@
BY THE COURT: s
Q Which arm did you nold G&t?‘ A 30t§vtr-lc' ‘i
tried to save myself by bbth arms I put out;
BY MR, EINSOHN:
Q@ And notwithstanding the fact that you had bOth arms
out this way (1ndicating) he - strud: you in the ayo?

MR, O*CONNOR: Objected tO. counaellor asked h.il
if after he had been cut in the eye did he hold his
hands out. Now, the { Wiumes# answers the question
that after he had cut him.in_the eye he put both.hauta
out to prevent him from stabbing him furthers

THE COURT: Proceeds
Q NOw, you saw him take out a knifel from his pocket,

did you? A I did not see when he took it out. He held
the knife that way (indicating)..
BY THE COURT:

Q And when you say "that way", you mean up the sleeve?



A von,x nvhht*t mu-m., ;
ouf. of his pbck;h u- took it ut thn‘~ 2 |
his hand was that way (1u1uuu). bent to
BY MR, BINSOHN: _

Q Did ybw see him opening the iuito?x &f‘ ”A
had it ready already. -

Q He took the knife out of hia yookct 1n ll op
diction, is that right? A He toek it out Opln‘ thﬂ
knife from his pocket that way (indicating)e
BY THE COURT: . |

Q What kind of knife vasit? A+t lnsﬂl,i4;_ fv”
knifes |
BY MR. EINSOHN: | .

Q$ Did you have a knit@ in your pocket yhpnv&ﬁu'ltfi
that bakery? A ©No, sirs Even now I have no knife.

MR, EINSOHN: I move to strike that out qn nof ﬁié.
sponsivee.
THE COURT: Strike out the answer except "no,

sire" ‘

Q You say you never had a pockat.kaifi-with you?
A I never have a knife; newerxcarry a'knifo.

Q I am not asking you whether you ever hnd'uudb~
did you ewer have a pocket knife with you? A !h‘ only
time I carried a knife, I always IOQf it, so Iden'f oirry

any more knives, and whenever I need a knife I borrow it
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from the workingmen.
Q Did you ewer borrow your knife o J

d:ld\youv,ewer lend your kixire, rather, to .
sir. ,

Q During lunch hour, did he oﬁ,r i@k y'y.fiff
knife, and did you ever 1ena.' it to him, for the |
cutting his food? A  No, sir, I did nots :

Q How, then, you mean to tolﬁl‘thh‘ .1|ur"y mt lw
this time, while you were employes in the ftctony, Iii au
ing all this time that you say Ackovitz was tos'tag ytu,
you never resented it 1; any vny'whatsooyor; is thlt
A Well, I am not an exc:itiﬁle man, a‘nd when 1tua .
vd;d not care anﬁk?ore for its .

Q You never got angry, is that right? A HNo, T am

not excitable.

HOMER F. SWIFT, 15).1) . , being c.n.d;id_
" duly sworn &s a witness om behalf of‘iho People, .
testified as follows;
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, O'CONNOR: _ v
Q You are a physician and surgeon, are you? A lyq..g.;
sir.
Q And attached to what hospital? A The !nmurﬁq:;‘

Q Prom what medical college did you grndﬁato?



.....

A The Bellevue.

Q And when did' you graduate from Bellewue Nﬂ!nl
College? A Last June.
Q And then you went from there ;o the !!"-l‘bytﬂ"hl
Hospital ? A vYes, sir. - ‘

Q And you commenced at the foot of the ladder, iy 1
being placed as an ambulance surgeon, is that right'?.,A - Not
exactly at first. _ | .

Q Well, what was the first thing yo? did when you m!t .
to the hogpital? A Well, I had the pouitiAou of J-mhr.

Q Then, afterwards, you became an mﬁnl,anco sui‘_gom, '
' did you?. A Yes, sir. i T

Q And were you 80 connected with the Prouhy.teriin
Hospital in the month of September, 19067 A I was. |

Q Now, doctor, did you respond to an ambulance caj.l “at '
Rockwell's bakery, in East 76th Street, on the norp‘ing of tho
15th of September, 19067 A Thst call was at First avemus
and 75th street.

Q And when you got there, did ylou.aeé the last witm'&.
who was On the stand, Sander Weiss? A I did.

Q NOw, will you deseribe to his Honor and thia -dvury
the condition that you found him in; where it was and what
you did? A we was in & livery stable; I believe, at the
time, it looked as if it were a livery stable; it might,

have been the delivery department of the Bakerny. I don't




~wound On the backe

know.

Q yes, sir? A At thet time, he was m m ‘lh
head and from the facn. I made a -uporftolal -
and bound up these vound- temporarily, and then took ﬁi

patient to the hospital.

Q Now, where were these woOunds, dootor?A',A»1'§¥£;?;'5
make a thorough examination until I got him in tho‘h01gﬁit&.vfga-»

Q GO on? A Then, there was a scalp wcumd. I l’t@t
know what portion of the'head but I think on.tho back of
the scalpe . There was a wound in the tenpii, lxtouding |
down through the left eye onto the famo, at tha left -1¢o

of the noee, and the upper 1lip; there wus also a nlldht

Q NOw, did you see his eye? A 1 did.

Q Did you'make an examination of the eye, doctor?
A I did. v

Q Will you deseribe to thé Judge and jury whothzr‘th.
eye was penetrated or not? A The éyebali was penetrated;
part of the inside of the eye, one of the humors was
exposed slightly. |

Q Vhat do you csll it? A Humorse

Q Now, what is'a humor; can you describe that a
little plainer, so that the jury will undoratanﬂ it? |
A It is a transparant aubstanoo,‘uonﬁvhat 11ka geltéinn.

Q Where is that? A That is the way you would



} 25 #ﬁi
descride it s0 that anybody would understand ite It is s
transparent oubafanoe, and it is One of the Otlitinpbé

MR, BINSOHN: I do not thiuk we -nuu get, or

it f'i,-' s

go all through this terrible testimony, about thl llii-il
the eye. We comcede that the eye was taken out, -t
taken out by the detendagt. I do not see why tii?“i
defendant should be prejudiced that way before this Qntriu’:
by going over this terrible testimony. We sdmit ite :

THE COURT: I think, if 1t is admitted-- |

MR, O'CONNOR§ If it is admitted that he took th.
eye out, all rights g :

MR. EINSOHN: Well, why do you go all over it?

MR, O'CONNOR: Bebaﬁse I had no concession.

THE COURT: If you desire to coOncede uponﬁthn
record that one of the stab wounds that has been testified
to took out thé eye of the complainant, why that will
dispense with this testimony, but you.want to consider
carefully whether you wish to concede that upon the re=
corde |

MR, O'CONNOR: DO you cOncede that?

MR, EINSOHN: No.

BY MR, O'CONNOR:
Q Now, describe that, doctor; you say it is a jelly
like substance? A A jelly-like substance, that is in the

eye, and that was protruded through the wound that was in the
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front part of the eyee. |
Q And was the eye hanging down? A The ey

out;‘ the eye »‘wa. still in ite sockete

~

Q Then, after that, was the dorcndlnt'. pM .
complainant, j)laced in bed there or upom the oper
A He was piaced in a bed, andAﬁn eye opntdlﬁ% was
to consider the advisability of Opertting to rm‘{
eye or not, and his opinion was that tho tyo M‘t 'W
. moved, that it was damaged beyond ropl:lro o
Q And was the eye removed at the hocpitnl? lﬁm
eye was rem_oved in the hospital. ‘ i
Q Can you recollect how long the defendant remainm
the hospital, doctor? A The defendant was 1# the n:ﬁ ‘
from the 15th to the 20th. After that he “.V“”m'“,‘ ’
and returned to the acciden;. ward of the hospital, I dom't
know how many times, for dressinge » _ |
THE COURT: Now, Mr, O'Comnor, I an. not entirely
satisfied with leaving in the testimony as to V(hét “t
the opiniomn of the dOctor. I think that we will utrm
that out. | : s ;
MR. O'CONNOR: Yes, sir. Just as to the fact that
the eye was removed will remain in? ‘ | P
THE COURT: Yese
MR, O'CONNOR: I agree with your Homor om thate

Of course the doctor does not underltvlud}thc ﬂlha of



ev 1d‘hm Ge | i
MR, RINSOHN: Meay I suggest that my ool
eross examine the doctor?

THE COURT: Yese

CROSS EXAMINATI ON BY MR. SIEWEL: |

Q Doctor, in your direct testimopy i aswer ﬂ
question Of. the District Attomeyé you .aiﬁ'tl_ii" m m
-plerced? A Yes, air; ‘ | |

Q By thét would you mean that the blow of a WM
penetrated through the eye? A I don't know what %JM 5
it was that had cut, that had injured the pa\thut,t M
eye was cut through the anterior portiongl as if yﬁu 'm
‘take an apple Or the end of your ringe.r and 6u£ 1t plrthllw :
off; the whole anterior portion was not renﬁpd, m ,-thtn |
object that had inflicted the wound had entered the eye very
evidentlye.

Q Well, how deeply did .yo‘u supposé this objoci hld
entered the eye? A I can't saye frObibly & quarter of
an inche |

Q DO you mean to state that one of the humors-- is
that the expression you used? A :,oa. ;

Q That one of the humors was visible? A Protruding
through the wound.

Q NOw, you are acquainted with the composition of the



eye, the ‘physieal ukoup of ‘the cye? A

Q Will you xmuy tell the jury what ﬂli_ ;
the outside layer of the eye 18? A The m« nmt,_,_,,
sclera, and the transparent portion is the cormea.

Q T8 that as far as your explanation goes? A :

Q Isnt't it a fact, doctor, that the outside hy&t*
thé eye is the sclerotic? A The sclera Or,lyliaﬁftﬁfﬁ*”

Q That is very thin? A The acletotie Iliir it:;gi 
white portione ’ » | |

Q And how thick is the selerotic 1ayer? i I can't
recall the exact figures nows i ' .

Q .Well, it woqld be abqﬁt one=-twelfth Otvnu'&tdﬁf'
A About that, I should s&y. A

Q Well, behind that, what, if anything, would be found
1n.theve&e? A In what portion of the eye?

Q We are speaking of the frOnf of the eye, looking
directly at the outside eyeball? A The part you look
through to0 gee the color of the eye is the cormea; that is
the transparent portione .

Q Just meke clear to the jury, if looking at the eye
directly, now, will you begin with the outermost layen, and
g0 beckwards, and name the parts of the.eyq, until you get
down t‘o the back part of the retina? A Looking through
the scene portion of the eye, what you might call the glass,

which is the cornea, which is somewhat like a watch erystale~



Q Exsctly. A (Continuing) ‘Then there u. hwﬂ‘
that there is & watery substance called the m humor
back of that is the colored portiom of the lwi, uul t

in the middle of that, ie the pupil; back of that uﬂﬁ

there is & little aqueous humor; ba& of that 1! 'illi
and back of the lens is this vitreous humors |

Q@ NOw, you mentioned first this sqlorOtie lw,m ;
then ‘back of that is what? A wvell, Ijttrtt.d‘ I!’OI W |
scaene portion of th_e eye, which_ is cali\od' the corneloA <

Q You say the first layer is what? A The corneag
and the sclera are continuouse . '

qQ m, beck of that is what humor? A 'I'hc aqueous
humore

Q How far bsck from the front of the eyeball is the
aqueous humor? A i'ran tﬁe front?

Q vese A .Why, it is about the thickmess .Of tho
cornea. You said before One#tweltth of an inche. |

Q In other wordd, an Object does not have to be very
long, or don't have to be very sharp to pierce the outer
layer, in order to make the agueous humor protrude?
A Nc.

Q@ In other wordse=-

s
BY THE COURT:

'@ Which humor was it that protruded, doctor?
A Well, the aqueous humor, would run out immediately, snd

A



*& vitréous hunar, on u.mt of l‘a '
'?mt part that was retained.

Q And that is back of the loaﬂ A 1
the :lense, but it is also directly buek lﬂt‘ﬂlﬁ
white portion of the eye that you seee "
BY MR, SIEGEL: e A

Q And starting with the cbma. the lm,""‘
substance back?. A No, the coma, tho lqucwt mw
then the colored portion. _ i :

'Q And the pupil in the middle? A 'ﬂunﬁﬂh Py
middles : |

@ And aqu‘eoua humor? A 'mdh is aemwm
aqueous humor in front; then the lens; thni tmu
humor, &nd if you go in the white pOrtion of thc m, Or m
eolera, by cutting directly through that, you vin c ome
down Op the vitreous hum-or. o /"

BY THE COURT: |

Q SO that the vitreous humor in certain parts of the
eye ie what you might call the. aécond 1,ydr‘? A 'on,
retinae is between that. It is a thin nervouse- l IW of
nervous tissue.

BY MR, SIEGEL: |

Q What I want to get at is, all tlun nﬂ. 7“

mentioned, are very small tissues, minute details of m

@nd thet an instrument sufficiemt, that is, en 1um



'could“yoﬁ'? A FNot exactlye

- Not absolutely.

need not necessarily be a knife or .“'

but it could wery easily be caused by a

object; 4s that right? A Well, it
Q In other words, by your examination @
you could not state just exactly ihat ca'!‘lilq‘

Q Wor even state that it was caused by a’ﬁtm

instrument? A That is the way it lomd, u &!
cauud by & sharp instrument.

»

Q But you could not etate cemtainly, coule

Q Atithe time you examined the eye, you m mm
was not out of its socket, "'was it? A It was aﬂ'l‘n
Q@ But in reality, it was pertoc'tly a nrt of W
ficial wound in the eye? A '011 it had cut 1&% i&l

into the interior of the eyeball.

.

Q But it did not go very dooply, as tho\lch the blow
had pierced the eyeball, is that correct? A lot dtrooﬂry' '
noe ' ’ ‘ : ;A

Q 8o, from your examination, there was no actual
pPlercing of the eye with a knife Of sharp mtmut o
A Yes, gir, there had been. . :

Q Well] then, what 40 you mean by piercing?



A Why, the entering of -lin‘objcet'&l‘l;Fv”k‘
| Q Then, that is your definitione Wi

was there an actual pohotration, an “M

§
}
A3
A

the entire eyeball by this hutru.ut? A DO
through the posterior part of the eyeball? |
Q EXactly, that is what I means A No,
MR, SIEGEL: I belieie tlu District &’l
trying to create that impression. | LR
MR. O'CONNOR: Wo, Iﬁ%éatel nothings T enly
the testimonye o ' e e
Q You are certain that there was not & pomtrattu
; - by an instrument ”through the eye, the driving of m
- » ‘ment through the posterior pdrt? A Ianm ﬁOt ccm-ija.: Nﬁ
| it diad not' look that waye | ‘ T
Q And the wound, if any, 'vaa a superficial wound in iiu
eye? A 1t was deep enOugh in the eye to dooiréy thﬁ n&gkto
MR, SIBGEL: I néve to strike that out. | .
THE COURT: Strike it Oute
Q This wound in the eye, as I said, was Gily deep
enough to make this vitreous humor protrudc‘, ie thst r‘izht?'
A 71t was deep enough for thate - | !
Q And only a small part of this witreous ﬁmﬁr Mm
out, is that right? A A small parte ,
Q TIn Other words, the wound was only hcp enough to

Just touch the vitreous humor? A I dtd not probe the



wound to see how deep it was, but un.“

the vitreous humor pmbtrudes

large quantity of vitreous humor exposed? A tt W

if there was a penetration and turning, 'icﬁi"VLi
been & great deal of this vitreous humor vhlﬁi!
don't know. It depends on the extemt of tho vouu.

Q Well, you say there was just a small pavt of ﬂwm
humor visible, just to ooze out, you just saw it‘ooxiaguouirev
A I saw that it was vitreous hunmj enough 80 that I utm "

identifys it e

Q@ And the vitreous humor is badk of tho eyeball, as M
said, sbout one-twelfth of an 1nch, ie that right? A It
is in the eyeball. ‘ }

Q@ In other words, if a sharp point rof‘ a v-tm, of a
ring, came in contact with the eye, &t about ﬁhat spot,
would sudh & wound be inflicted, do you believe? A Such
& wound &8s was present?

Q@ Yese 4 (NO answer,)

BY THE COURT:

Q@ Now, leaving out of mind tlkae‘ other wou.nd, and just
fixing your mind on the wound in the ey~ A I hardly
believe 80, |

MR, SIEGEL: You camnnot say positively, can you?
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THE WITNESS: Cannot say positively, moe
BY MR, STEGEL: S

Q Now, in regard to tho other woual,
all csused, st least were they &ll deep M or h _

cial wounds? A 'ou what do0 you mean hy '&ny"?

even & acratch & wound, is not thut & taot? A .
Q And if & man fell on the sidewalk and rm‘"

ébraiaIOn, that would be called & wound too,ywnn;ﬂgii&j§§7f~i

A ves , ‘

Q How many wounds in &ll did you céuat Ontm com=
Plainant? A There wawne on the back, & scalp QOM. ‘
and & wound in the temple which seemed te be coatiun'us*wtﬁh‘
the one in the eye,Nand as if thsIObJeun,intlictial the
wound had gone down to the faces Then thore was & alﬂg&t
vbund of the upper lip.

Q You dressed the wounds On the bsck Of the head,
didn't you, doctor? A Yes, sgir.

Q Did it impress you as though it was mnd§ by the

impress=- Cr by & féll? A 71t impressed me as if it were
made by some sharp instrumente ‘

Q And was it & déep wound? A As I recall, I think
it was down to the skulls I can't aaj for sure as to those

wounds. I have 80 many of them that I can't recall them,

the depthe of &ll those woundse



BY THE COURT: . o
q Did you make any memorandum at m
currence, ¢f the details? A vyes, sirs N
Q You are testifying now sOlely from
A I made a memOrandum as to the Mor of t!»
character of the woundse. | _
Q". According to your usual custom? A ”t
my uaﬁal custome ' ; j e
BY MR, SIEGEL: \ | .'.. f
‘q Doctor, ho"a'bout. thies wound on the back that yﬂ 2
referred toj\ would you call it, epeaking -ndtcally,.a‘
wound, Or was it more than & seratch? A As 1 riiﬁ;X*ﬁS
it did not have any moOre than & dreneing;. It did i&ﬂ,  f
~ require any suture.
Q. Which would mean, doctor, that it was Just -kta»chp,f
is that the idea? A I think 80, yese e o
Q And this wound in the lip; ‘was that anythim serious?
A Yo,
Q@ Just a scratch, is that the idea? A“"bll, it may
have been cut a little deepe I don't recall whether T
sutured it or not.
Q And this continuation, was that wery deep, near the
noge? A The incision was rather parallel with the skine

I recall that veny definitely. - Tt did not gb deep thie

way (indicating), but it laid like & layer of skin, backe



Q DOctor, on the wounds that you saw uﬁ :
made the original m..a.., do you believe that s

were made by forcibly piercing with a -h.ag 'ﬂﬁfl.ﬂiﬁﬁwf

part of the nose, upward, until it reached the _w.? t
ie very daifficult to tell, but just how they were inflicteds 7
It looked as if it had'begn_inrlictod by some tn-ap_.”f““. 3
Q But I ask you, doc;or; whbtharlit 13.13 any 'hi \
possible, from the wounds that you saw, that sﬁéh.aith&ac‘
mﬁy have Occurred; that is, a knife driven im ﬁhrOQghiih.
eyeball, turned, end then pulled Out, and then acaia

pierced under here (indicating) and thrown up to the S

;‘
to you believe it poseible the wounds that you saw were suda
wounds, were inflicted in that way? A It is possibles

Q Well, doctor, to my rormér~que-t10ns you answered :
that the wound was superficial in the eycball,‘ian’t that 80? ?
A Yes. » .

Q S° it was impossidble fOor the knife to have penetrate
ed right through the eyeball? A I did not say berbt;_it
had penet}ated.thrOugh the eyeball.

Q Well, T ask you 'now, ig it posesible, from the wounds
that you saw, that such & state of factavcouid have oOccurred, %%
that the knife could have pogetratod through the eyeball

and then twisted, and then jabbed again up through the eye;

is it poseible from the wounds you saw? A If it iu- in



the eyeball, it could not have been put imto mm

S T R
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It must have stayed there all the time. 4
Q Now, doector, there ie a man's n'bu'tf tt Im 3
In all fqirnesa to him, will you please iullor ny ‘1;‘ "
I say, tqéi;fhe wounds that you iat, and in vitw‘ﬁg=ﬁih;¥"
said befor y Will you pleane»tell thetjury vh.thifjaﬁilm:
state of facts could have oOccurred from the 'Mlmtm
saw? Now, here is what I eay: Is it po-niblo, rrui'thi*'
wounds that you saw and examined and dressed, that a klﬁto
could have been penetrated into the eyeball, baok to iho
retina, twisted and taken out, then lgain stabbed down bol'w -
the eye and upward? A TO go into the eye again, do y’“ ;w;‘k
mean? ‘

v

Q «©8e A Vhy, such was nbt the condition.

Q  You are posixivé that such was not the condition?
A That the knife entered again into-- a second time into
the eye, being drawn up, is that your quéefion?

Q Yes. A Such was not the conditione

Q And it was als0 impossible for thé knife to have
penetrated the eye all the way tnroﬁgh back of the retina?

THE COURT: HOw do you mean t0 say it is im-

possible? Do you mean to say that that was not what

actually habpened, in view of the‘teltinony as to the

character of the injury, es given by this witness?

Is that so, counsel?



,,,,,,,,

MR. BIMII-: Well, the om.w‘ G

TS
&

testified that the knife was thrown w m e

pierced his eye, was twuud, then drawn 'ﬂ lﬂ
jabbed in at the side of the nose, and up into
» | THE COURT: Well, very well. I thw
question -waé likely to vbe Msunﬂir.todd bym
but if the witness underntahdn 1%y a11 ri‘lto
BY MR. SIFGBL: ‘ |

Q What I am trying to get at, doctor, is, to show

what the compiainant claime was done t0 him u.abﬂl
impossible from the injuries that you saw theres |
llR. O'CONNOR: I do mot think there h tw

testimony, that the witness said it was drhon h“

his eye and taken Oout and twisted.

(The stenographer reads that portion of the com-
plaining witness!' tectinon-y.)
BY MR, SIEGEL:

Q@ YOu did not find the eye outside ‘tho aocht, dﬁ
you? A No, eir. ‘

Q 71t was not p_uahed out, was 1it? ’A No, sir.

Q And such & state of facts, imn your opinion, was
impossible from what examination you made? A 71t was not
out when I saw it. | A

Q And the only injury that you saw of the eye was l

slight piercing, enough to make the vitreous humor ooze out,



is that the idea, snd the vitreous humor is W

of an inch behind the sclerotie layer? A M Mﬁb Yl
¢ In other words, it was & wporfiem ‘wound iﬂ m ’ﬂ*

eye? A vyese

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, O'CONNOR:
Q And he lost the 'ey: as a result o;t"thl.t lﬂm.
didn't he, doctor? o 5 '
MR, SIEGEL: Obhjected to. )
Q Well, in your opinion, fronfhe onllimtun‘u&o :0!
the eye, was the sight lost? . ‘
MR. SIRGEL: Objected to0e
‘A\‘ MR. 6'CONNOR: You mado' him your witness as n
expert upon the eyees | |
THE COURT: I will allow the /question, in view of
your cross examination, counsels |
MR, SIEGEL: The District Attorney asks tho%i"
to testify as an expert, as to whether that :l.njury |
caused the loss of the sighte The quo‘.tioh is Objected
to on the ground that the doctor is not .guaur‘tu A'n an
expert in the matter, but simply testifies as an ordinary
physician who first dressed the wounds, and therefore m
question is objected to. .

MR, O'CONNOR: The defendant's counsel qualifm

him as &n experts I did not question him as an expent;



I asked him as & doctor of medicine, & cticing |
phyuioun and surgeom, duly Qun.tul by m

the State of New YOrk to practice as M. NW
THE COURT: YOu can ask him whether he can m
an Opinion wit‘h_ reasonable certainty. "
BY MR, O'CONNOR:
Q Can you oxp‘reu an Opinion with reasonable 0
A As to what? | |
Q As to whether or not the wound that was amuu‘,
that you saw and oxaninod caused the 10"01' aicht?

THE COURT: That me rely calls for yes or !l°c-_

i : A Yeg. ‘ L
i Q Did it, inm yodr opinion, did’ it uvuu the lossof "]""
sight? A rt dide ; '

i MR. SIGEL: Objeeted to On the ground that it is
expert testimony, as to the h_:owlodge of tho witneese

Objection overruledes Exception.

TONY RICHTER,boingcanodand'dulynorna'an'
witness on behalf of the People, testified as fol-

lows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, O'CONNOR:

Q Mr. Richter, will you speak 10ud so that the gemtle~

/ man can hear you here? A Yese



| Q Where do you live? A 509 Bast 82nd streets

Q What is your business? A Bakers

Q Where are you employed; where do you work?
A DOwn at ROckwell's.
Q ROckwell's bakery? ' A vyess

At 400-.. A 429 anﬁ 43)1 East 75th itru!;

Q
Q In the Countmw York? A Yess
Q And were you working there on the 15th Ot Mptm.
19067 A Yese
Q How long have you been working im the Rlekvou
A
bakery? A Now it ies going on uvontoen yearss

Q Do you know Sander Ioiu, the witnoutlnt was on “

stand here this morning? A Yes, eir. W

Q And do you know the defendant here, La@qlt Ackovitz? '
A Yes, sir. ; ’ , | |

‘Q_, Did you see them in the bakery on the nornihg nef'tht'
15th of September, 19067 A Yes, eire

Q@ You are the foreman, are you, in the bakery?

A vYes, sire.

Q Now, what time did they leave thé bakery that morn=
ing, if you can recollect? A They left the bakery some
time; they was through with me at three o%'clock in the
morninge

Q Did you see any trouble between this defendant

Ackovitz and Welss, while they were in the bakery that

\\.
ooy



morning? . A I didn't sée it. I heard it, and I heard m

 argumente _ i) ; N
Q Weli, you aia not see 1t? A No, oﬂy I heard

argumentse ' | |

&
Q But you did not see any trouble? A Nos

i

Q NOI‘, Mre Richter', did you go out of the m
morning, out on the street? A Yese
Q Did you see Weiss or ACkovitz while they were on

the street in Bast 76th strest? A yoss

Q Now, you just tell the Judge and jury what you saw

take place, if anything, between Weiss and M‘kwtta? |

A Well, Sander Weiss, he went out béfore‘hkﬁit:.r sbout tem

minutes before Ackowitz, and then came up Petrowitch and

3 Ackovitz, after Sander Weiss, and I followed Petrowitch |
and Ackovitz, about three or four minutes later. Sander
Weiss, he stands by his house, Oon thé‘door andlckovﬁ$z'
and Petrowitch, they were passing, and Bander Weiss was ‘hm-
ing three or four words to Ackovitz.
" MR, EINSOHN: pe stated that they went beforehs
di:d.
THE COURT: CoOunsel, this witness is testifyings
Have you érw Objection? . |
MR, EINSOHN: nge is testifying to a ooﬁverutiol
which he does not %state he hoardf

THE COURT: He is testifying, as I understand 1it,



to no conwersatione ¢Q-~f¥i:

MR, EINSOHN: Petrowitch and the WW Wii
out first, and passed the place where mm ta
and they hd a comversation; he is testifying tt

MR. O'CONNOR: WO, he said he followed m’
minutes after Ackovitz and Petrowitch, and Q@l.lA

Ackovitz was passing Sander Weiss said .@iiihiﬁ‘o i 1

THE WITNESS: Sander Weiss says ibous‘tﬁrip nrv . 7;;,-
four words to hime ; | : ‘_ 5 |
BY THE COURT: | _

Q Well, were you there when that was said; did you 7
hear what was said?- A No, T could note Oﬁly I Wm
he talks . L

@ You saw‘they wéfe taliing together? A Talking :
together, but I could not say what it wasg and Ankﬂvtt:rturaa,fi
‘around and hit him in the faces ‘

BY MR, O'CONNOR:

Q Hit him where? A Right in the faces
BY THE COURT: .

Q Whom did he hit? A I could not ses sll of ite

Q VWhat was the name 0f the man Ackovitz hit?

A Ackovitz hit Sander Weisse
BY MR, O'BRONNOR:
Q Where did he hit him? A Thet I could not see

when he hit him, right in his facey that is, because I was a



1ittle too far away; I was about ten Or rmm
st that time. U ’
Q Did you see how many times Ackodu~rut-if‘ulf-.iff""r
A Well, after the first strike he dome .;-uit. u‘,
grabbed him and they fell down in the otrottg anﬁliliﬁf]
hit him three or four times after that§ then they m "
1n¢;Pe stregt. vvi '.. .
Q You said after Weiss fell down in the jtriit“fif{:x
the defendant struck him three or four times 'hiiouh' iit   V
~on the street? A Yese v o
Q Then Weiss lay On the street? A Weiss was lying
on the street. | Cdied
MR, REINSOHN: I object to this as lodd1n¢§
Objection sustaineds Strike out that answers
Q Now, what did you do, if nnything,? while you were
there, Mr. Richter? A Well, it was going = quick I
‘couldn't do anything at all, snd I would ﬁot mix me in ite
I %ad nothing to do with it Qutaide.

Q Did you go over t0 where Weiss was lyihg on the

atréet?
THE COURT: ‘Ask him what he did. _
MR, O'CONNOR: The trouble is this, his poor
Epglishe ‘ ' ’

THE COURT: I know. IT it is aghoonblo to the

/defbndant, I think 1t would be preferable that, while



e

Yo

"you do after you saw Neisgs lying On the ground? A. I did

the witness understands nmmu. we sh
interpreters - The witness mrM

s
T

finds 1t aifficult to express h:-nl.h  He
himeelf poorly om that account. Now, 1‘ }.
that it would ve to the interests of the ﬁi!ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
that thg testimony should bé given in a clliﬁﬁf:
he gives it in Engiidh, and I .uggiot, thircf‘fiﬁ
counsel for the defendant, that the witn‘cq be 3
to give his answers in German, his own lai;ungg,e*»,
the interpreters ~ ' ' Jfey

» MR, EINSOHN: I accept the iugcnitipn'ﬁtiyihr-
Honore ’ |

Q (Through Official Interpioter Dollim.) What ‘ﬁ‘»ﬂ

not interfere. A

Q Did you go over to where Weiss was aﬁ& 10ek_§t’hmaﬂ'
A No, sir. A ‘ |

Q Do you knhw who removed Weiss ffnn tha:stré.t?f
A Veiss went alone awaye They bofh Junped up and Aok!ttti
ran away and Weiss alsO ran awaye. .

Q Did you see Weigs' face Or his head? A. 1 saw
Sander Weiss' face when he was standing at the drug store
ringing the bell for the druggiste |

Q And what did you soe; if anything, on hia»faoo?

A Vell, his face was all full of bloods I could not swy



anything else.

CROSS EXAMINATOON BY MR, BINSOHN:
Q Mr. Richter, did you see Who strud the first blow,
whether it was Mr, Aekovitz or Mr, Weiss? A Nr, Ackovite

& ‘ B\
T A

hit firste.
Q Are you certain Of that? A vess |
Q Do you remember tho,couve;'ntiﬂn that you m'“h
me On or about NOvember 8th, Election Day, at your house,
in regard to this occurrence? A Yes. | |
Q DO you remember stating to me on that Occasion that

you camee=-

MR. O'CONNOR: Objeected to as incompetent,

immaterial amd irrelevanty counsel askit_ak a witness for
the People if he had a coOnversation with him at‘ his
house. Now, what is the purpose? ' ‘

THE COURT: The purpose is to show that 03‘. another
ocecasion this witness may have made a statement incon-
sistent with the evidence he is giving nowe

MR, O'COWNNOR: Well, if f.hat be the theory.

THE COURT: Proceed, counsel.

Q D9 you remember stating to me upon that Occasiom
that you did not see who struck the first blow? A No, I
did not say so to you.

Q Didn't you state to mp that you came there when they




“‘on the ground I was there already.

were both lying On the floor? A No, sir. While Eh

THE COURT: The answer to the question is either

yes Or nos Repeat the question. _ ' sy

Q@ (Questiom repeated.) A I was at the pﬁb!‘hlu i
ready, when they were om the grounde I u.svlqullr;’”_
theme ' ' e "
Tﬁl! COURT: étrike that Ouﬁ as aﬂnlm&hu L '

The question is whether he did or did aot;ayqﬁﬁt‘:‘gﬁ‘

_ 4§
THE WITNESS: I did not say sOs | |
BY MR, EINSOHN: | ' | .
4 Q@ DO you swear to that? A ;Glo -“‘ e ,:1~“3fg;tfﬁg s%
Q HOw long after Weiss lirt the place did yonﬁibiio e :

it? A About ten or twelve minutese

Q Who left the place first? A 'iins 1q£t the place
first, then Ackovitz and Petrowitch. |

Q About ten or twelve minutes beforeyou?‘ A Ihtaj.
yese

Q Are you sure it was not more than tem or twelve
minutes? A No, I didn't take s0 long t0 dress myselfs

Q And then who went out? A Petrowitch and Ackosiitze

Q And how long after ﬁoias went out did Petrowitech |
and Ackovitz go Ouf of the bakery? A They followed about

two minutes after Weiss went out.

Q@ And how long after Aekovitz and Petrowitch left



ddd you go out? A After Ackositz and P ; m,
about two or tixrqe minutes, I went out. S Wi

Q NOw, as you went oOut of thi bnkpry, whom did N
standing by the door where Weiss lived? A When I W
out, Petrowitch and Ackowitz were goﬁg up to the htm
- Weiss, but they were not there yet w}un I came 'cm;;, the
were just going upe : ; ‘ |

Q Did you reach Sander Weiss® door at the uno tiﬂ 1 |
with Ack'ovitz and Petrowitch? A ©NO, sire ‘ s

Q Ackovitz and Petrowitch came up to ioi:ji door e

before you? A Before me, yess - 5 Sl

Q Diad ybu'nOtice were they talking when you came ﬂb; S

did they have amy conversation? A No, I didm't hear noth-

ing-

Q Well, what were they doing? A Well, they didmit
do anything. They were walking together, Petrowitch ;hd
Ackovitz,

Q Did you nbtice, did Ackovitz carry anything in his
hands?, A No, sir.

Q You are the foromnn. of thh bakery, are you?

A Yes. |

Q 18 it éustOmary for the workmen to take bread hﬁb
every night? A Well, it is permitted. They have Ior-
mission, each man to take ome loaf Of breade

Q DO you know on that night did Ackovitz have a loaf




of bread in his hand? A ves, Ackovits had bread with h

Q DO you know did Mr, Weiss take some ﬁmm
the house that night? A That I can't .tam‘*a“'fifu;m;xi;

"'. Q And you want to state to this jury pollt%!.l?.iﬁﬁéifﬁ
| Ackovitz was the first Ome who struck Sender Welss, h
" right? A Yes. k :
Q You swear to it? A vess o
Q Did ygu-see Ackovitz use a knife? A !b;i
Q Did you see Weiss use & knife? | A No. N
Q WVell, when Ackovitz atruck"eico,‘did youAlbtiﬁo : ;
that h;s face was immediately covered with blood? A VI did 2
not see that. ' ‘ i
‘Qmé Q You did not know that his face was cOvered with
blood-- after Ackovitz struck Petrowitch, did yOQ notice
1ﬁmediately his face cOvered with blood? A I conld not v‘
noticé it because immediately they caught each other,
caught hold of each Other.
THE COURT: I think, éounaol,_in your last
queafion you used an advertently wrong name; you used
the name of Petrowitch, when you intended fo use the
o name Of Weiss.

MR, EINSOHN: Yes, thank youe
Q And when Ackovitz struck Weiss, did Weiss attempt
to strike back at Ackovitz? A Well, I can't tell. Maybe

he ttied, but he didn't come to that.



Q Did you see Weiss make au‘qtt.qlgf;“
after Ackovitz otrimk nim? A Well, of :"‘.:,,
defend:himself. |

Q And then they had a fight, amd they Mf
the floor? A Well, they clinched and fell to m }

Q And how long were they fisﬂgiai on thi‘ftgtr-f‘
way? A About two or three minutes. |
Q And did you maké any attempt to .mrat‘mt?

A No,

BY THE COURT:

3

i Q HNow, when you say "floor", do you mean inside .t m

i

building, Or do you mean out om the sidewalk? A mm,
on the sidewak. |
BY MR. EINSOHN:

Q It was none of ybur businena.; you didnet 6&!'_0 to
interfere; it was merely a fight? A No, I did lﬂtlintonh
feree | | ' '

Q and you waited there to watch them fight, is that
‘11;? A I glowly went away; I dwly left Aud went on my
Waye
. Q Did you wait until they got up from the fleoor, or
from the street? A I passed abOut two houses when they
jumped up, when they jumped uph from the grounde

Q You left them lying on the ground and you walked

ahead? A I did not touch thems I passed by and did mot



touch them, I did not cares

Q DO you kn/oY what they were doing ﬂih%imr
the floor, or on the ground? A Ackwlu un on W lf
Weiss. Ackovitz hit Weiss about throo or tm tw!.
hit him while they were on the gronnd. :

Q Didn't they turn over? A I can't tell for m»
BY THE COURT: ‘ ‘ o

Q Was Weiss On top at any tiﬁ? A !6, mmu m
first on top of Weiss, when they fell dOim.' |

Q All the time? A All éhé timee They might iuﬂ |
turned afterwardse _ : ' |

Q wever mind what they might have done. ‘hi.h' yw
vére looking at them, Ackovitz was On top of Weiss all the
time that you were looking at them? A VWell, inodhtély
when they fell down, Ackovitz was on top of 'oian.v Tfun
thegr struggled. They went On struggling.

BY MR. EINSOHN:

Q Didn't you dbaerve that yh:l.le they were lying om the
ground, in this way, that at one time Weiss was lying ©on
top of Ackovitz; didn't you notice that? | A I did not see
thate. I was going away then.

Q Is your memory very good? A ;os, pretty welle

Q@ And you cannot swear positively, can you, that
Weiss was not on top of Ackovitz d‘uring part o; this

fight? A I could not swear to it; I am not sure.




Q Well, 4id you notice Weiss strik Ackovits while

were On the ground? A Well, I saw that

Ay
i

ing while they were lying On the ground, and the Ome that
wae underneath could nbt beate ' 3
Q Did you notice Weiss take hold of A°kovitz's

head and bump it against the sidewalk while they were 3. e

that way? A No, sirs.

Q The only thing that you saw then, was &U«it‘: '
lying on top of Weiss, .that is all? A As t}luyltcn uu
I saw that Ackovitz was on top of Weisse

Q And you saw them fighting and you went away; it was

none Of your business? A And I went On my waye

(The COurt admonished the jury in accordance with
Section 415 0f the COde of Criminal Procedurs, and

took a recess until 2 o'clock Pe M.)



APTER RECESS.
TRIAL RESUMED,

VICTOR PETROWITCH, being called and
duly sworn as a witness on bhair of the ﬂ 'y
testified through Offisiel Tnfetereter etite
as folldvué ‘

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, O'CONNOR: .

Q Where do you live? A 320 East 8lst street.
Q Vhat is your business? A pakers .
Q Where are you employed? A At Rlbohclll'u‘ukmy, . !
"Bast 75th Streets |
Q DO you know Sgnder Weiss? A I know him as lm
as we wwoxk togethers I ¥ .
Q And do you know;the defendmt. at the bar :h.are:,‘
Leopolt Ackovitz? . A ves, miy since the th we are .
working tOgethei“. . | | 7
Q And did you and Ackovitz, and Sander Weiss work im .
ROckwell's bakery oOnm the‘15th of September, 19067 AI‘ Yese
Q Now, what time did you leave the ba‘bry on tho
morning of the isth of Septambor‘, 1906°? A 10 m:,Lnutoi past

threee

Q And who left the bakery with you? A All four of




nis door, where he lives, about three houses from the

us were together dressed, and Weiss went out just a few

paces ahead Of us.

Q And whom did you go out with? A With Leopelt

Ackovitz, |
Q Where did you go to with Leopolt Ackowitz? l'rlH-.ip¢‘;
well, we went in 75th street, towards First AVenmue. |

Q Did you meet Weiss on your way? A I saw him at

bakery he lives.

Q Did you see aﬁything take place botvbonISaﬁdar"blaa
and the defendant Ackovitz at that time? : A.‘Yb.o |

Q Tell the Court and jury what you saw take place,
if anything, between Sander Weiss and fhe defendant Loop01f
Ackdvitz? A Ackovitz was with me. We passed by Weiss'
house, and when Ackovitz aaw'Vei;a standing there, he had a
1 oaf Oof bread with him, Ackovitz, and as soon as he liw
Weiss he threw the loaf of bread te the ground. Weiss stood
there, Qnd as soon as Ackovitz saw Weiss standing there,
he threw his bread down to the ground énd went towards |
Weisss Then Weiss s#dd a few words to Ackovitf, but he had
no time to finish his sentence. While he was saying, as -
800n as he said those few words, Ackovitz hit Weiss, and I
saw exactly that he hit him on his left eye, and immediately

the blood was 00zing from the eye, and then they clinched

and they both fell down. While they wéro rolling on the
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ground, both, I and rbroi-n Richter, we w‘it«ihltl. I-ﬂ’!hﬂy
nr{ on thokgroum yete Then I saw they W l“ and my
both ran away, Welss and AOkaitz.

Q Did you iee Veiss after that? A Yes, sir. . We
gaw him later on at the drug store. | ‘

Q And did you see his face? A There ibi lpk!q’fitf

blood, but I did not see what it was.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, SIEGEL:

Q How long are you working 1nilr. ROckwoll't hnkbry?
A TWO years.

Q You remember that during that time both €50 509-'
fendant and Weiss were wOrking there too? A I mever saw
them until that evening; never saw them befoOree

Q Where had you worked in this bakery? A I hawe the
inside work. 4

Q@ What part of the work d0 you do? A _Qn th; bencl;

I make breéd on the bench.

Q@ DO you mean to tell this COurt and jury thatyou
never saw these men before this night?‘ A vyes, sir, we
worked together. Before he commenced to0 work in the bakery,
I never saw him, but while he was there I saw hime

Q But while they were working there, you saw them both
in the bakery, didn't you? A Yes, I understood before that

you asked whether I knew him before he worked in the bakery.

& "
“ ; : !




1

% N “.
Q Well, they were working there, and you saw mm
"4n the bakery, didn't you? A Yes, sir, in the bakery I
/’( ; A : )
saw hime
Q The defendant used to work near Weiss, didn't he?

v

A Yes, sir,

9, I suppose they had conversations between iwh
A ves, sir, they talked. |

Q 'Di.d you ever notice that tho& had a quarrel sOme
times? A No, I didn't see a guarrel.

Q You newer knew that they quarreled, did you? A WNo,

I didn't know thate

Q Did you know, or do you know whether ©n So'pt"c*ir

15th the defendant and Weiss had a quarrel? A I don't
know thate 5

Q You 'say you left the bakery when’on -l;ptonh-r 15th?
A Ten minﬁtes after three, I left the bakerys : _

Q@ Was it exactly ten minutes after three? A Well, I
calculate, I worked until about three o'clock, and to dress
myself I cal culate abOﬁt ten minutes latere

Q But you are not certain as fo the exact time, are

- you? A ¥No, not to the minute, but I know I worked until

three o'clocke.

Q Then it might have been fifteen minutes past three?
A Maybe twenty, or so; I am ;:Ot correct about thats

Q YOu say you went out of the bakery im company with
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the defendant, didn't you? A Yes, sire

'Q And what side of the street is this ba ker

A The uptown side.

Q When you went down the street, 'llndtvit-giﬂk};:i*
side? A ¢t was dark, but there are street liupa‘,viikw
| Q What street number is this baknry? ‘a8 lﬂiﬁ&

know exactlye.

Q DO you know what nﬁmber Weise lives in? A “I'F'

Cam =

dont't know that.
Q How many houses did you say is it to thh b‘lltyvt‘  .

Weiss' residence? A I think it is the third houses

5 % Criidag .
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Q Do you know that the bakery is No.429 and Weiss'

house is 4157 A No, I aon't know thate ' s .

Q And you sure it is only three houses away? A About;
I don't know exactly. ;

Q Isp't it four or five, Or‘perhap- six? lA;_Ahout;
I think it is about thres Miueesiiii i

Q Is it perhaps four or fiwe or e;z, e rar:as you
know? A Vell, I don,t know exactly; maybe; I think thr;t
or four houses awaye |

Q Well, about what part of the block iarii?
A In the middle of the blockes The bakery ie in the niddlo
of the blocke.

Q How far awey from the bakery is Weise' residence;

give me in the part of the block? A From where he lives



it ie not the cormer of the block; there are several M

yet from Weiss' house to the cormer, and the mm is in ,'

the middle of the blocks 1
Q Well, about how many feet is it from the bakery to
Weiss' residence? A About thirty paces. |
Q That would be thirty “foevt, is 1t9? '

THE COURT: NO, pacess '

Q HOw many paces do you suppose is the haqure ‘Of °ll0
house? A I ‘dou't know theate I newer D.iurod it. '
Q Well, about how much? A I don't know. Some
houges are larger and sOme are narrdwer; 1 _dbn't know,.
Q‘ You say Weiss was standing in front of his hing», i
wasn't he? A Yes, eir, ‘ |

Q@ HOw do you 'know that was Weiss' house? A I very

¢ften went, wken he left the bakery, vewgnm‘homa-togcther,.
and I know that he iiwed there. Very often I went with
him from the bakery, ’and I k¥now he lived there.

Q Well, did you often go out together with Weiss from
the bakery? A Not oftene Well, only Friday and Saturday
we g0 together from the bakery home.

Q You were accOmpanying, you séid, the defendant, is
that right? A Yes.

Q HOw far away were you from him as you were walking
@along with him? A Side by side, together.

Q And when you came near Weiss, how far were you away



<

not definites A (Indicating) About gnq.j in
I am standinge. ‘ ‘

Q Thet is ebout two and & half feet, or tuoj“ “
A SuppOse they stand here where thil post tef % “W

awaY o (Indicating)

Q Now; yov said that Weiss saild -onmlc tQ M M
fendant, but you did not hear what he nﬂ; is iht
A Vell, T did not understand what they said, but he nﬂ

only two words, end made--

Q You did not understand what they said? A No,
did not understand what they saide.

THE COURT: e heard, but he did not understand,

he saide

Q You szy the moment that he uid those wards, ma
what happened? A Ackovitz hit Weiss Mthto]a-. i

Q Where did he hit him? A I saw 4% very m:ty,
that he hit him here On the left side (indicating)y amd im-
mediatgly the blood was otmqming down his face. |

Q Are you sure he hit him on the 1t side? A Yes,
sire. |

Q You are positive of that? A Very precisely.
I saw it very fullye.

Q@ You remember that he poeitively hit him on the left



side? A vyese

Q You remember that? A Not that I

its I know exactly that he hit him theres =

Q Well, whet happened then? A Then immediately iﬁﬁig
clinched, end they fell down to the ground, snd Ankpv:ai{5?l n
was On top of Veisse. | 7 o«

Q Did you see whether anythiék was the matter with
WVeiss' eye? A Héa eye was already out,'ahd the ylolﬁ_,'
was streaming downe. ,

Q The eye was all the way out, wasn't 1t? A foll; fi
I didn't see exactly that the eye vn§ out, but zs the dblood |
was atreamiﬁg out, it must have beens : o .“i*f

THE COURT: Strike out "it must have been, etc.”

Q@ I esk you what yOu saw, what was the matter with the

eye; did you see the eye out? A I did not see it, be-
caﬁae they clined and they fell downe

Q Vhen they fell down what happened down there?
A When they fell down‘to the ground, I saw that Acﬁofiti
hit him a couple of blows yet, and we went aways |

Q Yes, that Ackovitz was hitting Weiss all the time?
A Yes.

Q And Veiss was not doing a thing t0 Ackovitz?
A Then they got up and ran awaye
BY THE COURT:

Q@ Did they both run im the same direction, or did they



e

yun in different directions? A They "$§!; fZﬁ,Jm
tion of First Avenue.

Q Vhich one was ahead? A Weiss '.'fffi“**

Q And Ackovitz was behind Weiss? A Iliﬁi&‘;>”
behind Weiss, because Weiss wae running to thirimqi%  3 e
BY MR. SIEGEL: i

Q When they fell down &and clinchﬂd, I .Ik yOuiiﬂ
Ackovitz was hitting Weiss all the tilo, ﬁhsﬂho? A ‘¥:  A, w
difnit see what they did afterwards, but. I saw thmt hﬁﬂtiﬂn
him a couple or blows; further on I did not see what they
did. »

@ And you did not see Weiss -triké one blow on
Ackovitz? A 1 did hot aeeiit.

Q@ In other words, you saw Ackovitz strike Weiss, and -

Weiss did not even strike ‘back once, is that right?
A I did not wee that, even Oncee. %

Q You said, when they fell down, they rolled around,
and then you did not want to mix in, &nd walked away; is
that right? A Yes, eirj from the sida'nlk, they fell down E
over the gutter, into the street.

Q But you are eure“thay rolled around, didn:t they,
when they fell down? A I didn't pee 1f exactly how they
amtad: I only saw that they were moving, shaking, both of

theme

Q In other worde, they were fighting while they were on



the ground, ien't that right? A Well, I didn't see that,
but most of the time Weiss was underneathe
Q And you stood by there snd saw these two people e

fighting and did not make the least attempt to

A Well, T did not interfere, becavse I did mot thimk, I |

did not know that it was dangerous, that there was &
did not know that. . ‘ =
Q Did you see any knife used by anybody? a‘A I 614 §°t‘%?
see thate | .
Q. Did not see any knife at all? A I did not see &
knifee. ’
Q VWhy didn't you interfere inm this fight? A I
thought they shall do¢ it as they like; I 40n3t interferee

Q Didn't you say because you did not think it was &

sérious matter, snd you ai.ply walked away? A I did nnt'
know that4it was 80 dangerouss : -

Q And still you say that you saw that fac§ all blo?a.
and the eye o;t? A Vell, I saw that, that the blood was
coming out, but I did not know that he kgockod his eye oute

Q You did not see the eye out, gid you? A No, I .
was not so close by. A I saw that he hit him on the oye,
but I was not so close by to see it, to see if the eye was
hanging out or not.

Q Did anybOdy.ask you t0 come here and testify acliait

-

the defendant, 80 that he would receive a sewere werdict;



> newer saw me befoOre.

"Mre. Petrowitch, won't you please cOme dOwn t0 court and see

\

snybody besides the District Attorney? Did amybe
the District Attorney ask you t0 come here .u

the defendant? A No one.

complainant, called t0 see you several days sgo? A *

not truee

Q You never saw Weige' sister? A Nevers fﬁf%i?fﬁii°:j%

+ %
A ) L S

have been here three Or four times, then I saw thi';iltot-;
Q Didn't the sister ever speak to you qt'allé .A. Ib._ 5
nothing. |
Q Didn't spesk to you here any word, nothlnc at all?

A No. She did not talk to mes She dOes mot know me; she

BY THE COURT: .

Q éAnd when you say befOre, you mean before you saw her
here in the courtroom? A That is so0,

BY MR. SIEGEL:

@ vsn't it a fact that she came to you ui‘ said to you,

that this Ackovitz gets a good, heavy sentence for wheat he did
to my brother"? » |
MR, O'CONNOR: Objected to as incompetent, im=
material and irrelevant.
.THE COURT: They are trying to show bias on the

part of this witnessy I suppose.




- YOu, is that right? A It was not moree

MR, OYCONNOR: %Jcﬂiﬂ ilm

A No, I will swear three times yet nut u ﬂm' ‘

Q Answer yes or nos A No, it 1s lot ui:
Q You went out with the defemdant from the hl!ﬁﬂri
anybody else with you? A Richter came Onf lb"t §Iﬁ@§
paces behind use. |
Q Three feet behind you? A Three pacess Sk T
Q VWVell, how far is that; ihnt are pucni?  A ‘I'§§£i? ;_ug
@ pace is four feet, the length of four téct. . o |

Q@ You are sure Richter was only thrao puco. bthxul

Q Did you turn around to icg whether Richter was behin
you? A I did not turn around to see Richter, if he is

behind me, but when we stopped there, st Weise' house, then

Richter was already near use

Q When the défendantvetruck the alleged_blow; wa s _
Richter up to you already? A Yes, sir, he‘waa'thgmo; he
saw it. | |

Q And the two of you stood by and watched this £ight?
A Yes, eir. |

Q@ And when Richter says he waa'nbt there at the time thelﬁ;

blow was struck, that is a lie, is it? A He saw-it.
: '
Q Answer the question. I say when Richter says he

was not there at the spot or the same piace that you weree=-

THE COURT: He says that is not so.



as a witncu on behalf of the !’um, te
DIRRCT WXAMINATION BY MR. O'CONNOR:
-“;5', Q@ You are an officer of tho»Pﬁlfli,hifv

City of New York?” A Yes.

' District.
@ In the monthn of SethMber, you wore‘ut

vthe 25th Precinet, were you? A Ybs. |
@ Vere you doing citizen's elothua or:'

that time® A I was doing ait&uen'aﬁcletht:‘

- ? Q Now, did you make the arréat in:¥h¢a‘agn
A Yes sir. _ F

@ When did you make the arrest? .A A)bnﬁ‘O'A;?ih?wv
that same morning. |

Q@ On the 15th day of September, 1906? A Thnfif;“‘
of QPptem%er, 1906. - _

Q@ Had vou seen this maﬁ Weiss boforé'you mud@Hika»ﬁﬁ% :’
rest? A Yes sir.

Q Where did vou see him? A At the hospital.

Q What hospital was he at?VIA :The~Pfenbyteriup.

0 Did vou have a talk with him there? A Eo.

Q Did you see any of these other witnesses before yuﬂ,

made the arrest? A Yes sir.



Q@ Vhom did you see? A Raohtor, or liohttﬁxxﬁhNStvIr |
hiu name is, the foreman of the place. {

Q@ What did you aftor talking withknichtorf ‘i{ Iila$ f;Qf
out looking for Ackovitg. | N

Q@ Did you find him? A Yes sir.

Q Abéut nine o'clock that morning? A fos,

Q@ Where did you find him? A At his home . |

Q@ What did you say to him, officer,.ihon'ypn~want 1534
A 1 asked him -- no, I asked him after 1 placed‘him uﬁdﬁr !
arrest, 1 told him what 1 wanted him for.v

Q@ Tell us what you said to him? A 1 said to him: )

"Where is that knife vou cut this fellow with?" He dpniq§ﬁ Y¢r{”

at first having a knife.
THE COURT: Strike out what he denied.

Q What did he say? A He says "1 ain't got no knifef,
and I says; "certainly you got a knife; tell me where it
is".

MR. SIEGEL: 1If your Honor pléaae, there iﬁ
nothing to make these statements admissible, because

the defendant ath the time of his arrest, 1 under-

stand, was not warned that this evidence would be ever
used againgt him. A
TH® COURT: 1 do not understand that it is

necessary that he should he, where the conversation

is hetween the defendant and a poliee officer. 1t




is necessary before a Magistrate.

(Objection withdrawm.)
. Q Go on? A I says "Oh yes, you had a xnut»; vﬂ&'p‘n.
f - . .and tell me where the knifelia", and after a little iﬁﬁﬂl@@ﬁj;,
he savs, "well, I threw the knife in the street". o

Q@ Did vou ask him about whether he had aﬁy row ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ?ff:}‘rL 
A Yos, 1isala, “What e the treusibint He said, "meu,
him and 1 had a fight in the bakery before ﬁ§ quituﬁo£%§x
he wanted me to do some work and 1 wouldn't do it, tnd'ﬁe
had some words over it, and he said he would lay tor.ngﬁ
wﬁ;n 1 wenﬁ outside", and he said "wehn l:went'outntipghc'
was at his door waiting for me, and 1 Qasssd by'; ahiéﬁéjff
says "he is a higrer man—than me, and he came up to,me,}and
as soon as he did 1 got a right to defend myseif‘. I‘suya;
"What did you do then?" And he says he cut him.

@ Did he tell vou whére he c¢ut him? A No, he.didn't
tell me. He didn't know that his eye was out at that time.
RY THEF COURT: .

0 He said "I have a right to defend myself"? A Yes
sir.

RY MR, O'CONNOR:
G And that he cut‘him? A Yqé.
Q Now, then, did you take the defendant to the hospi=-

tal where Weiss was? A 1 took him first to the station
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house, took his pedigree there, and from thiﬂ W m
hospital, to be identified by the complainant .

Q Well, what was seid in the presence of the e
* ant and the defendant? A Well, I brought him up bifgr,fA\

Weiss, and Weiss was in bed there, and 1 asked Weiss if he

knew anyone present in this room. 1said "Do you mwmyu PR

body present in this room?"

BY THE COURT:

Q  What lanpuape did you use? A 1 said: }'D@ you ".
‘know anyhody present here?" ‘

Q What language did vou speak in? 4 English. |

- RY MR. O'CONNOR:

Q@ And what did he say? A He said, he shook his

head., I said: "Do you kndw this man here?" And he a#ys.
"Yes". . |
Q Peferring to whom? A To Ackovitz.
RY THE COURT:
Q When you say, officer, that he shook his head,
what do you mean? A He shook in the attitude of saying
"yes", and then 1 said "Do you know this man here", point-
i ng to Ackovitz; "is this the man that eut yau'? He says
"Yes, that is the man that cut me."
Q He said that in English to you? -A Yes, well, he

said "That is the man that cut me", pointing to his eye.

)



BY MR. O'CONNOR:

Q Did he say "That is the man"? A He said *That i
the man that cut me". I believe those are thm‘thfils i

can't exactly say it.

MR, O'CONNOR: Well, we wil} strike that outs

THE VITNFSS: Well, he identified the pris
THE COURT: Strike that out as a conclusion. fl“"

BY MR, O'CONNOR:

Q@ What did Ackovitz say when he was brought to the

. hospital® A He didn't say nothing.

'CROSS EXAMINAT1ON BY MR. S1EGEL:

G All these statements you just made, oftiea:,varn'

all simplv matters of as much as you can remﬂmﬁer{ simply
from memory, isn't that s0? A Just what I know took
Place.

Q You do not use the exact words, but just what you
recollect in effect that he said; is that right? A Well,
it is to that effect, ves.

€@ That is what you helieve to be to that effect; is
that right? A Well,‘l guegs there is no believing about
it. I think it is just what exactly took effect. It is
with regard to what Weiss, saying he cut -- I can't remember

whether he said "eut" or whether he said "stab", but he



_brought him up there for identificat

ves. .

'@ You said that the defcnﬂnan!ﬁlf‘
you. To you prétend th@t those are ibﬁ ax
to you? A The words I stated here are the

to me.

Q The exact words? A Well, about the

Q Did vou find that he could apeuk:v'

A Well, I say abont the smest Wil i

@ So what you are gtating is practicillj.'hntkfiyp.ky
lieve he said to you, but they‘are not the exact U@ﬁi‘fﬂ
A Well, I think they are the exact;wordlm'

Q@ You are sure of it? A 1 am almost poai*ttba

0 But you are not altogether pesitivm, nro y@a?
A Well, he might -- there is one word there that prﬁhﬁﬁt&
he did not say, fhaf I might have misconatrued.

Q Do yvou for a moment understand the aitu&tibﬁi@iﬁq}g' ‘
There is a man's liberty at stake, and you get up hgrjﬁg@ﬁﬁ
make assertions of whieh you are not positive? A Ybﬁ,fgnia
thing 1 say here 1 will swear to. |

Q You will swear these are the exact words he said
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to you? A Yes, 1 will swear they are thsrinittfhiwiiq &

Q Every word of it? A VYes.

Q@ And your memory, you béliev@, is so good fhl&"'i ;ﬂﬁsW
can‘rememher it, the complete conversation? A 1In a egnagquf:
*this kind 1 could, ves. 5

Q@ There is not one word in that testimony thlt‘yﬁl
Just gave that is possibly wrong? A Relative to the de~
fandant and myself, no. .

Q@ And every word that you agid the defendant said tb'
you is exactly the way hejsaid it? A Just exaetly. |

MR, SIRGFL: May I aak the stenographer to reugz_

that testimony again?

MR, O'CONNOR: I do not see the object of read-.
ing that testimony. ; .

THE COURT: Your best test, counsel,‘iﬁntoﬁaak
him to repeat the conversation.

Q Will vou kindly repeat the conversation held between
you and the defendant? A 1 arrived at his house and went
up to the top floor and knocked on the door, and got no re-
sponse, and 1 --

Q Wait. You were asked to repeat the conversgation yﬂu
had. You did not testify -- A (interrupting) 1 am
bringing it to the time I entered his room. 1 entered his

room and had a fellow that was in the employ of Rockwell's
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«= I don't know who he is, some employoo,'uxarfvnr?ihimig

to idonjr.ify this prisoner as I:puia Ackovitz, the mt N ;

looking for. ' | .
- ‘ Q@ Hold on? A I omitted that in the héginning.

BRY THE COURT:

Q@ All you are asked to do, officer, is to’rape;t the

'con"ersation vou had with Ackovitz? A 1 p‘id to him

"Where is that knife'you cut him with?" He saild: 'Ilhﬁd

no‘knifé". He denied having a knife, and 1 says "Yes,

you did; come on now, tell us where that kﬁife is", 1 said,

"what was the trouble hetween you?" He suid fhey‘hqd some ¢
¢ words in the hakery about lifting something, or d@iﬁg ;dhb 

kind of work, and that Weiss said he was going to lay for

him when he would go home, and he said when he went ouf,
that Weiss was at the doorway, and was waiting for him, and
thev had a quarrel; and he said he had a right to defend
himself, and 1 asked him where the knife was, and he said
he threw it in the street, and he said that after he cut
Weiss, he threw it in the street.
RY Mﬁ. QRIRGEL: ‘

Q That is exactly the conversation, is it? ‘A Yes,
just about the conversation; that is the conversation. 1
ean't put it sentence aftef sentence, but that is the con~

versation that took place. .
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Q@ That is the conversation exaectly that yﬁhﬂﬁﬁﬁwﬁiﬁh g‘f

|

the defendant? A Yes.
Q You are positive? A Positive. ‘
- Q@ There is nothing else he said to you? A I' had t
talk with him going down in the c@r, and he kept)f- |
Q Just a minute; is that all that the defand'&ﬂt uu e
to you? A. He told me that he eut him, and he llid‘h§ ﬁ£lﬁ?;4l_
a right to defend himself; that Weiss had threatened htn;.ffliff f
‘and that hewas waiting at the door, and that he was bigger
}than he wmas. . .

Q@ Oh, you put that in now?

MR. O'CONNOR: DMNo, he said that before, in
first conversatiéﬁ. »
THE COURT: Counsel, he cannot answer you
fully, if you inferrupt him bpefore l;e‘is' through.
If you want the full conversation you will hava to
let ’him answer. |
MR. SIKGFL: Pardon me, your Honor.
Q Officer, do you preténd thé.t you rémember the eon~
versation vou held with all persons that you arr'est?'
A In a serious case of this kind I alwayvs do. 1 do not
pick up cases of this kind every day>1n the week, so it '13, i
very easy to rememher this. v

v

Q Do vou want to make this jury of twelve men and his



uwltuvc that you cun*n!iiiiiv
'url for word? A Well, wotd f&r

the way 1 gave it out; that is the
place between us, and there wia noth&a¢.4u>
cause there is nof s0 much to remember.

Q@ What 1 want you to admit, orfieor, 1!,
simplv testified truthfully d to ‘the b.lt tf*
edge and the bhest of your memory, in arroct
to you? A Yes. .

Q@ That is what I want you to state? A :!i‘f7tiﬂ§
what I am st;ting, just vhat passed between uq;f'
more and‘nothipg less. ' |

Q@ But you cannot say that you know.axactlyliki ‘
he spoke to you, can yoﬁ? A Vell, they are th§ ﬁ§&Qpp
ﬁere gaid, that I am after testifying to twiece, . |

place hetween us, that passed hetween him.andai;??f

Q Doés he speak English well? A Weil, wellf “
for me to understand it. :

Q Toesn't he speak with a foreign accent? A ihga;,
a little bit, yes. | |

0 Toesn't he have to use some foreign words ta’ﬁ;ha
himself énderstood? A He did not.qu anyAwith‘mo.

MR, O'CONNOR: The People rest.

MR, RINSOHN: 1 move to dismiss the indiectment
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kill on the part of fhe defendant‘ ‘mr~;
proven that there was any intent on thp'
defendant to maim the complainant or to dis
disable him, nor have thev preven tho.t thore
lving in wait by the defenaant for tho
but, on the contrarv, the evidence n %his Q&t‘
that the complainant vas lying in wait for tha ln«
fendant, and on these grounds I ask your‘ﬂbnorfﬁq'
direct the jury to acquit the defendant.

MR, O'CONNOR: Does your Honor desire tn_haur

me upon that?

THE COURT: No. I will Jugt-iook”at’tﬁ@t;g§e
tion of the Code. The Code provides that.thp;t#é
fliction of the injury is presumptive evidence of
the intemt, 1 wilivallow the matter to go €o tp!
Jury énd4deny vour motion, | i

“VR. RINSOHN: Exception. 1 ask your Homor fur-
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first degree are entirely septruts'taﬂ\
crimes. The elaments of mniminc are, tﬁiﬁ
must be an infenf to diefigure, the el!#@g

¥ sault and baffery in the first degrae arc

must be an intent to kill; two entirsly
crimes, and it appears to me that the ?oﬂa&l
to be compelled to elect upon whi!hrgcunt‘yhﬂy.g”;,

to go to the Jury.

bt}
B (UG U W

THE COURT: The 1ntent in an aouamlt ttmﬁ
first degree may be to commit a felony upon %ﬁaf
of the one assaulted, as well as gﬁvintcnt t§ k#l1;7a

I will deny your motibn, and give yoﬁaaa ‘bﬁ
ception. “ ;

MR, RINSOHN: RException. Also that th;y hnvo 25
not proven any felony, have_not proven any intént'ﬁo,
kill.

Motion denied. Fxception.
| DEFENSE y :
LEOPOLT ACKOTVITZ, being called and duly sworn

ag a witness on hehalf of the defense, testified through of-

ficial interpreter Fischer as follows:

THE INTERPRETY¥R: The witness says he would 11&0
"to speak Fnglish, so as to show the Court how he
speaks English, because the officer says he spoke
¢ good ®nglish.



THE COURT: I suppose the witness has the righ
to use the English language if he "ug.§‘;§h..s“f
MR. O'CONNOR: Oh, yes. s »
MR. BINSOHN: In order to save time, I .rt#qr;_€ 
to have an 1ntorprotpr in the case. ! ' 'ﬂfﬁv ‘
MR. O'CONNOR: Well, this is an offielal m,,.
preter. ’ A |
MR. EINSOHN: May I have the defendant and the

complaining witness stand together, so that the jury

may see the difference in size and appearance?
THE COURT: ves, I will allow that.
(The complaining witness and the dsfesdant
accordingly are confronted with each other in the

presence of the jury).

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EINSOHN:
Q Where do you come from, what counfry? ‘(In Bnglish)
A Hungary. |
Q pave you a father and mother living? A No, leflthar
ii dead. ’
Q Have you any mother living? A Yes.
Q Where is she? A In Hungary.

Q Hawe you got brothers and sisters there? A I have

got two brothers here and I got three sisters and one brother

there in Hungary.

\



'Q How old is the oldest? A The oldest, the sister
the oldest. | -
Q How 014 is she? A 13 years.,

~ Q When did you come to this country? A In Ii!iia

Q How long ago? A Three years, it will be ta.liiﬂhqii;{f;

Q (Through the official interpreter) Did you cdli"ili¥3  ' 
all alone? A Yes. | ' ' . e )
'Q Have you got any relatives in this city? A ‘!b.,'l
huﬁ uncles, e
Q Have you got a brother? A Yes, two.
Q How old 1s‘your oldcit‘brothcr? A Going on 1? years,
- Q Did he come here on his ow@ expense? |
MR. O'CONNOR: I object to this line.
THE COURT: I think that is irrelewant.
Q How o0ld are you, Ackovitz? A On the litk_o!‘llly
I will be 20 years old.
Q Since you came to this country, at what oécupufloa did
you work? A I learned the trade of carpenter at home, aﬁd g
g ‘became a carpenter since I came here,
Q How long did you work at Rockwell's Bakery? A PFrom
the 10th of May to the 15th day of Séptomber.
Q Leopolt, how much salary did you get in Rockwell's?
A My wages were $14 a weeck.
Q@ Did you ever fell SBander Weiss how much you were

getting in salary? A Yes, I told him.

o
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Q And was Sander Weiss employed e -

e

were there? A Me works in the same r..g,ry’viuif ,,;;3.2<

in the same place. |

Q Do you know whether Sander 'itsu was glttlic'iibf 1
salary as you were, although he had more proricnnﬁ‘fhta5p{“
had in the business? A 'Hc-did not receive naytinfn;.’rdiﬁf
ably less. ‘ A :4 4
. Q@ Do you know that he ever expressed to m' any Julmy
regarding the salary that you got? A Yes. ‘

Q What did he say? A He said to me, he oftcn'toli‘up,

he says "You work overt ime and you work on Saturllj!, ild» |
receive 30 cents per hour and on Saturday $3v.,
Q You frequently worked night work, did you? A I‘ibrhil
steady nights. ' |
Q Was there any particular reason why yoﬁ worked night
work? A Because I was needed for night work.
'Q Well, why did you work overtime? A Bedsnih X
started later than Sander Weiss.
Q Prior to September 15th were you and Sander Weiss
friendly? A We were not good friends.
Q Did you often have arguments together? A Yes. He
never left mb alone.
Q What do you mean by "he never left you aloniff

A T worked on the side, inside, which is called chomez; I
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made bread; that means, making bread in a pan.
Q What I want to know is in regard to what did you and

Sander Weiss have arguments? A The foreman, i?. Iliiﬁi&gr“‘.

always sent me out when they were late, to help ll.n. iﬁil‘ﬂl‘i'r

rolls, and Sander Weiss was working at that plsot 1horn-t§h

rolls were being made. Whenever they were using ttana rtllt.‘

that is, making them nice and round, they were putti.nc eight
.times eight into a box; then he used to disarrange th,rolliy
and then blame it on me, that I'did not do the work flghta'
Then he shcwed the bench foreman, Mr. Steuch, uull showed him
that I had done wrong work, but y told Mr. Steuch I did not
do it, that he did it. Then Mr. Steuch said to me, "You u '
it right", and then Mr. Sander Weiss says to me 'If you have
" such a big mouth I will throw you out of here®.
Q And you had these arguments very frequently, did you?
A Yes, always. He always used to come 1nsiqc tg where I'
was workinge.
Q Now, on or about September 15th, 1906, what time did
you go to work thers? A Two o'clock.
Q 71n the afternoon? A Yes, in the afternoon.
THE COURT: ©No, he means after 12 a.m.
THE INTERPRETER: He says 12 o'clock, the same
as now, in the afternoon. »

Q Thatws on the 14th, wasnit 1t? A Friday wmas the

Thevy




14th; Friday, I started at 2 o'eloek; that is am an

hour sooner than the time is now. It was in i&urf’ﬁ““7‘~“‘

Q And what time did you have your meal in Ghoipii§;§!lfi;?
that day? A 7 o'clock. e

Q Did you have any argument while you were utm m
lunch with Sander Weiss? A Yes. X , ’” 

Q Did you eat your lunch on the same qidy of’thﬁf‘ﬁ¥d§7 \
as Weiss? A Yes. : el

Q And you say you had a dispute then, is that so?

A He had a dispute with me. “ ,‘ R ‘.é 4
Q VWhat was the dispute about? A He nlod\to»sturt with
me a few days previously to that, because I was lﬂ!iﬂg‘lﬂlly;”' J&ﬁ'

I had savedmore money than he. When he came towards me and

says to ﬁi"iﬂgt dirty stuff must you'oat.' I'laii to him
"That is none of your business."”" He says to me "What, you
say it is none of my business, you eating such stuff; hdw
can a man eat such stuff." I was eating corned beef; then
he says to me "Why don't you eat what I do, meat and soup?"
Then he asked me "How much money have you safod ilrcldy?'

I told him "That 1s none of your business”, and 7 told him
"What money I have belongs to me; it does not belong to you";
then 7 asked him to please leave me alone "I want to have neo
dispute, no fight; I am not used to running from one job to

another; I want to remain steady in one place; I have a good
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m and v want to keep 1t ”
Q Did you tell him what you did with yo “iﬁﬁk”

you saved? A Yes. He asked me "What are 1057' ;v
your mojey that yau are saving? I said, "I havi c“;;‘”:
with fﬁur echildrém to support, sisters"”.
Q Now, Leopolt, at about a quarter to three tﬁ";i m
14th, or Sthember 15th, rather, on Baturday, did you w |
any further dispute with Sander Welss? A I had a dtl’nto !@ﬁlgs7
him. It was about five or ten minutes of three.

Q 1Is that thetime you generally are supposed to clean

up theplace where you worked? A lb.

Q Is that the time you genoruiiy clean up? l;"ﬁﬁfffg“”
wait until we are through with our work. If we are tﬁrinih
sooner, then our usﬁal timog ie clban up, otherwise not.

Q What time did you begin to clean up that plaat?

A At five or ten minutes before three.

Q Was Sander Weiss engaged in cleaning up in the same
place where you were? A Yes. v

Q. Did anything separate you, the place you were cleaning
up and the place where Sgnder’Woisa was cleaning? A There
was a long, a wide bench standing in the bakery. I took the
brush and 71 went towards that bench to sweep. It was very
hot, very hot, in the summertime then, and I worked without
shirt; even Mr. Richter worked without a shirt; everybody

was there working without a shirt.




'Q And you say Sander Weiss was engaged in ¢m ”
on the oppontto side, is that right? A Not m W Do

much further away from the bench; he was tvttplgtﬁui Ghl‘,’l
dirt. i

Q Was he standing while he was sweeping? A ‘bll. ﬂhﬁff:
he was sweeping the dust, he was sweeping it to'url. lt, iliﬂti
I was standing; I was on my knees, with a small hoadh truih; f
I wms sweeping. % v

Q And did Sander Veiss sweep part of the dult on you?
A All the dirt, and the dust from the bread, he swept tmﬁ' |
me. My moqth and everything was full of it.

Q What did you say to him? A I got up from behind the
bench and says "What do you do; don't you see that I am work;
ing behind here?" 7

Q pid he stop then? A No, he did nore then; he did it
worse. |

Q What did you say to him then? A I was angry, and I
said to him "You son~-of-a-bitch, what are you doing?" !hnﬁ he
laughed, and he says "Can you help yourself?" He says to me,
"I will show you to~day, I will make you toéday-br t o-morrow,
I will make you cold". |

Q And who left the place first that morqing? A When I

was through with my work I did not see him any more in the

bakery.
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Q@ Do you know what time he left the place? i. m;,
‘it was about 2 or 3 o'clock in the night=time, ﬂ' two il‘
three minutes after three in the night time, early in W
morning.

Q And how long after did you leave the place?
A About a quarter of an hour later. :

Q With whom did you leave the place at that thﬂ
A With Victor Petrowiteh.

Q@ Did you also leave the place with ¥r. Richter, th. |
foreman? A Mr. Richter was aevoial at‘o'p’s? behind me.

Q How far away is the bakery fram the place where Sander
Weiss lived? A About three or four houses. o

Q@ You are not sure of that, are you? A I dont't know it
rquctly, but 7 think it is three or four houses.

Q You say you were walking along with Petrowitch, is
that right? A Yes.

Q And Richter was behiné you, is that r:_lght? A Yes.

Q Were you carrying inyth:lng in your hand? A Two loaves
‘of bread.

Q Did you have an overcoat on? A No. I.ha,d an old
suit, dressed as I am now, only I had no vest on.
/ Q And as you passed along that street there, did you
notice Weiss? A I did not see him. I looked around anmd I

did not see him.




Q When did you see hh? A When I went, m~ “

and went towards the house, I saw him Jm trn ‘M =
BY THE COURT:

Q Jump from what hall? A Where he lived.
BY MR. BINSOHN: :

Q Had you passed that hall already, ‘the nall of tm
house? A I hadvpasaed that house. I didn't kQOi'hﬁ'ltvdi. e
there. 0

Q You were walking along with Petrowiteh; Ihnro were
you, nearest to the roadway or nearest to the hnildlﬁc llay?
A I was nearer the side of the street. .

Q Nearest to the roadway? A .Y"é

Q And to the right of vou was Mr. Petrowiteh? A Yes.

Q What first made you aware of the fact that Welss was
there? A I heard the door being moved, and a nottc, q’d I
seen him jump out.

Q And did he have his coat on? A" ¥o, he did not. He
had his sleeves rolled up. |

Q Did you notice Weiss coming out of the hall? A Al1 I
seen is, when he came down and jumped down three steps, and
ho ‘is on top of me already. ‘

Q Did he begin to speak to you, and if so, what did
he say? A 1 teld him in the bakery thaf he was a uon-of-_&-

bitch, and he raised up his hand and he says "Who is a son-of-




a-bitch?"

Q Did he attempt to strike you‘l’ A He m . ' 1
his hand. Tdid not notiece it first off, but afterwards 8
saw it.

Q And did he make an attempt to strike yvu? A !ilg‘lb
pulled it out of his back pockot. V
BY MR, O'CONNOR:

Q Pulled what? A A knife.
BY MR, EINSOHN: .

Q And he made an attempt to strike you with the knife?

A Yes. > '

Q And what did you do? A I was fridhtoncd. ..."'t
I went to, I struck his hand and held it tight, and while ii&n‘
80 I struckhim in the face with my hand.

Q And what happened then? A He wanted to tear himself
loosﬁ, and he got his hands out of my hand, but I held on
tight to the knifo,énd he rolled me and turned me around ‘in
the atre;t, and while y was hdlding his hand he slipped,and he
fell. Then I fell on top of him. When I fell onrhin Ivdon't
know where T hit him, but I had his hand with the knife in my
hand, and I struck him with it. Then he allowed me, or let
me take the knife into my hand.

Q Now, Leopolt, you tell this Jury, was that knife your

knife, or did you have a knife when you went out of the bakery?




A I never carried a knife.

Q Did you ever have occasion to borrow ﬂu
d_er Weiss while you were employed 1;1 the bt.k)ry’t
I had to eat my lunch I asked several to lend me thh’

and several times also fram Sander Weiss. |

Q Did you intend to takorout the an or‘SQuG!r% 
A YNo. ok 4

Q pid you intend to kill Sander Weiss, orovwhu i 7
Sander Weiss that you would kill him? A No, I'Qitinat7jﬁa§?i5.if
to do anything to him. | &

Q Did you ever tell him you intended to assault
A YNo, ke told me so. _ .

Q Did you expect to meet Sander Weiss standing by his
door when you went out of the bakery that time? A Fo, I did
not.

@ Did you carry bread under your.arm? A Ybl; tjt_intvﬁl
of bread. »

Q Did you merely intend to protect yourself fmom tio
assault of sandér Veiss? A  Yes, certainly.

Q What became of the knife? A VWhen I had the knife
in my hand, I was lying on top of him. Then he turned me and
he got on top of me. Then I threw him ﬁain. Then he got
on top of me again, and we were rolling around. Then he

Jumped off me and ran away somewhere. I was lying on the floor
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when he ran away from me, and v sat up, and ! mm h
might call somebody and would assault me later.
BY THE COURT:
Q Did you run after Weiss, after Weiss ran away?
A Yo, I did not. I remained lying down.

BY MR. BRINSOHN:

Q While you were lying on the floor thero, _dil Weiss hit o
you in any way? A Yes, with his hand, going taw&r‘n m QM‘*
walk.

Q You heard Mr. Petrowitch and Mr. Richter testify inm
this court here to=-day, didn't you? A Yes. .

Q@ Did you hear him state that during the time yon vwo
lying on the floor -~ ,

THE COURT: When you say "him", whioh oéo do
you refer to, Richter or Petrowitch? | ‘

Q Did you hear Mr, Richter state that vhile you and Weiss
were lying on the floor you were always on top of Weiss? A He
testified that T was rolling around. v

Q Did you know that you had struck Weiss in the eye with
a knife? A I did not know what I did to him.

Q Did the knife catch him in the eye while you were on
the floor, or.barare you fell on the floor?

MR. O'CONNOR: On the street, counsel.

Q On the street? A At the time he fell down I did not
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know where it hit him. _ :

Q@ You are sure then, that the knife caught khhm
eye while you were rolling on the floor, trytnc;tb‘t‘ib the
knife away fram him, is that right? A At that time I had ‘the
knife in my hand. _ .

Q When did.you take the knife away from him, while you
were on the ground? A After he.uls”cut, then hp_alloﬁt‘*lb tol
take the knife, he let go.

Q@ Did he bang your head aga inst the sidewalk?

A Yes, after he got on top of me the second time.
Q@ And was your head bruised ror a long while tho;o&ft.r?»-
A Yes. } - |
Q Now, again; Leopolt, will you tell this jury, did you
leave the bakery, Rockwell's factory on September 15th, 1906,
with a knife in your pocket? A No, sir.
Q Did you have it anywhere on your person? A Yo, I had

no knife.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. O'CONNOR:

Q What did you do with that kﬁifc? A VWith the knife I:
took away from him, I don,t know where =-~-

Q I am asking.you, what did you do with the knife that

you stabbed Sander Weiss with? A I had no knife in my hand

at the time he was cut.




Q@ Why didn't you testify here th-t you tnt the nm

out of hisg hand, and that you cut him? A lo, I l“ M w
“that.
. Q Well, how did you cut him?

THE COURT: I think the witness is rme, m

he did not so testify. I think he 1! ri‘t in ”
ing that he did not testify that he had cut him with :
the knife. That is my recolleection of'th.’ﬁ“il‘h
WR. O'CONNOR: Well, I will ask him what he did
“out him with, . | |
Q What did you cut him with? A (No answer)

» MR. O'CONNOR: As T understand the testimony
of this man, Weise had a knito in his hand, ud that
he took it, and he wrenched it out of his hand, end
then he punched him in the eye, m. that they fell
down, end that he could not tell where he was struck,
or striking him with the knife.

THE COURT: You are wrong, Mr, O'Connor.
MR. O'CONNOR: Well, if I am, fhat is what I
want to see. '
Q” Now, did you cut this man in the eye? A I don't know
where I cut him. |
Q Well, did you cut him? A VWell, he might have got that

cut while we were wrangling. He had a knife in his hand and I




A

roil on top of him.

Q On, that is it; you were holding his hand snd he
might have cut his eye and cut his face and cu§~tﬁifid€9?_
his head? A I held his hand, and in that way I till u m

of him, and we rell together.

Q Well, can you describe how he got the cut 1u-ﬁi'5 ijA§":;

»dr the head? A He may have got that perhaps wvhile we 1§r)3:

rolling around, and I held the knife in iv hand.
]

)lding

Q Now, will you describe to me, while ypu'llrd
. .. | .
his hand, this way (indicating) and rolling around =~

you
understand me? A I did not roll around at that t&no. V

Q 'ell, when%;m he get tho cut in the hck of tho w e
and the cut in the back? A I donit know whether he r_uo‘im
a cut; I didn't give it 'to him.

Q Well, you heard him describe here, and the dooto;,'
that he was cut on the back of the head and cut in fﬁo hﬁok
of his body? A Yes, I heard it.

Q Well,who cut him then,in theAback of the head and in
the back? A I may have cut him while ‘we were rolling around,
and after he allowed me to take the knife, when he let go.

Q Well then, you did have a knife in your hand? A Yes,
after we had rolled’around, and he let me take the knife.

Q Now, where is that knife and what did you do with that

knife? A I don“t know where that knife is.
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A I donit know what became of that knife. I didnvt li wuyb

- A Because I held so tight he could not do anything to me.
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Q What did you do with 1t? A I di‘n.t do

with it. May be he took 1t a].ong, may be it has W A

lying in the place. I was -curcd and excited.

Q@ What did you do with that knife after you cut ﬁiﬂ m

in the back of the head and in the back of his body?

thing with it.

Q Didn't you tell the police officer that you threw it
away? A No, I did not say that. | | | .

Q YNow, how did this man get the cut in thnvcyo, tho'uut

on the lip and then the cut under the eye? 'A. !0 no-doubt'got |

it while ¢ was rolling around, and ihiio Itlxbondiaiihii §i&ML'i?bi
holding it with my hand, and T was rolling on top of htﬁQ

Q Well, if you were aeting in self defense, how is it

that he got all the cutting up, if he were the aggressor?

Q Then, you are a stronger man than he is8? A 3 don't
know whether I am stronger than he.

Q VWell, but you were acting in self defense, and he
got all carved up, and you had nothing done to you?
A 1 was wounded on the head.

Q Well, you did not have any cut on the back of your
head? A No, I had no cut.

Q But he had his eye gouged out, his 1ip cut, his eye



in self-defense? A Can he now show Ghitgﬁﬁi”f?* "1“‘¥“

were cut? Let him come here and show ite
Q You called this young fellow & con—or-a-httoh &i}
the place that day, didn't you? A veu, while he wli\i»
ing the dirt onm top of me. ' | :
Q And you felt angry with him ? A T was not
but I told him that. s
Q ~And»he did ﬁot say anything to you then, did he?
~ A When? ' |

Q When you called him a son-of-s=bitch? A Yes, he

said to me, pointing his finger at me, "I will show yOﬁvﬁinﬁfﬁﬁ”S

day who is a sOn-of-a=bitch; I will make you qold-'

Q And you went out there prepared to meet him, didn't
you, in the evening or early morning? A No, I didn't know
anything.

Q Well, didn't he tell you he was going to knock you
cold? A wye said that several times, but he never bothered
mee.

Q He never bothered you, and you had been teasing this
young fellow, all the time, hadn't yOu?. A No, I did ﬁot‘
tease him. He teased me. | 4

Q Now, you nevwer had any trouble with Petrowitch, did
you? A No, \

Q You never had any trouble with this foreman,




ur, Richter, did you? A No, never,

MR, EINSOHN: I object as incompetent, immaterisl

~

and 1rrelevanf,. : f:f |
THE COURT: I think it is propems You have
addressed, counsel, to both these witnesses, questions
for the purpOse.o: indicating that they h.d_iiii _‘
bias. Therefore it is allowable for the Diutrioﬁ-f ,
Attorney to show, if he can, by thiq.iit;nta, ir tk;r.*>
was not any 111l feeling between this defenﬂtat'ind those

witnesses.

Q Now, did you hear that testimony of Petrowitch and

Richter, that you strudk this young fellow Veiss in the side o

of the face first? A Richter did not say that. That is
not true. ‘

Q That is not true? A Richter only said that I
struck him with my hande.

Q@ And that you struck the first blow? A When he came

towards me I got hold Of his hand and hit hime

Q@ And that afterwards &ou knockeﬁ down Weiss, and that
you Segan to strike him three or four times while he was
lying vpon the ground? A I did not throw him down. } 3
did not hit him.

Q Didn't you hit him while he was on the ground?

A TWNo, I did not hit him.
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SAMUEL. VRABEL, being called mm mm‘_‘
witnesson behalf of the mtom, ' i
lows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. SIEGEL: , B U

Q What ie your profession? A I am an attorney m )

counsellor at lawe -

Q Do you prawtice generally, or have yo'n & wthw
line? A No,‘ I represent the New York l‘ohphcao GW o
in the Municipal Court, First Diafﬁicte

Q Do you recolleect acccnpanying Mr, luuohn, ‘when
Mr, Einaohn was visiting Mr, Richter, a vttncn who tasttrm
previously here? A Yese

'Q DO you remember the cOmversation that was held bet-
ween Mr, Finsohn and Mr. Richter? A I doe

Q In your presemce? A Yes, eire ‘

Q When was that? A On Election Day, November 8th,
1906,

Q What time of dgy was it? A Somewhere around
noontike. I should Vsay between 11 and 12 o'clocke

Q Will you please state to the jury and Court what
occurred; at least, the conversation that took place?

A Originel 1y, this defendant came to0 my residemce, but I m ’
unfamiliar with the trial of a criminal c.ie, 80 I told him
I would retain a friend of mine who was more familiar; that

I did not think I could try & case in the Court of General




Sessione. .poko to Mr. J. S. Einsohn, W,'
the deferdant now, and I had hime- I had met mﬁum

the Bast Side Civic club, one evening, and i !iva‘ M“
would be @ good thing to see these witnesses and Jesrn tﬁi .
truth, s Leopolt Ackovitz said that he was willing £0 n
by what they said, that he has no doubt but what thoy vm

tell the truth, and that if they did tell the truth he d‘!!j

not fear the resulte So therefore, efter I hnd'VOtod.
about eight o'clock, Eleection Day, 1 took & 8oc°nd lvcm
train up as far ae 72nd street, I think, and met Mr. liu-
sohn there by appointments

We called upon Mr, Richter, and we cOommenced to

talk about this case. He met us in a very rrieadly‘-pifit.'

and I told him just to tell us the truth, that thaf’wnl all
we were there for, énd, "We will do our best for the -
prisoner,” and i told him, "Mr. Finsohn 1suatt0rnoy engaged
to try the case,” and I told him who I was; I spoke to him
in his native tongue; I am familiar with German, and I
asked him to tell us how this oOccurred. I said, "It is a
very serious matter, and we wanted to prepare the case in tho
best possible waye" SO0 I told Mr, Richter, "Go ahead and
tell ue," s0 he proceeded as follows: |

He said that very much about the matter he cannot |
tell me, beecamuse he had left & few moments or s0 after the

prisoner left with Mr. Petrowitch, and that it is quite @

SRy
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I will explain it, if yoﬁ will let mes
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stantially what ne told you? A To, I m eat, if ;
wishe e e |

Q ves, thét he was about 75 feet away? A
like that, yes. » '

Q Now, you do mot know amything about criminal law,

do you? A Well, except what I have stated, w\at.!»
in ‘law sch001. .

Q Well, that is very little, is it not? ¥You did Il% :
Kknow at that time thet this witness, Mr. Richter, had been &
witness for the People, did you, a witness for the People,

did you? A Well, I don't know that I can enswer direetly.

Q I will let you explaine A I was retained after

the matter, I believe, was up in the Magistrate's Court,

and this prisoner was represented by some at‘tormyﬁby the
name of Nugent, who had trouble with Mr, Jerome, .‘tho’ Grand
Jury and s forth. SO Mr, Ackovitz said t0 me, and sOme
other young man who tccompaniedﬁin, that they were proaqnt in
the Magistrate's Court, and Magistrate Whitman, before him, ‘
but that they did not testify, and I believe they said that, 3
and I say now, that we went there in good faith, in my
client's interests, and note-

Q Oh, you acted in good faith, but you did not use this
witness? A I agked him whéther* he would testify. \

THE COURT: I think I will excl ude that question,



VR

beeause it is not shown that, flf‘lhn"qgngg!@.g;
now pending case, this witness oooup*“ffiwﬁﬁlfff&ﬁw

to it.

Mr. Vrabel? A (No answers)
BY THE COURT: |
Q Well, are you One Of the attOormeys for the defendant I

in this cese? A I am note I have no financial Slﬁ@*iﬁi?L , %

in the matter.

BY MR, O'CONNOR:

Q But you have an interest in the case, in ® rur}a-u_f

you would like to see the defendant aequitted? A Well,

from the circumstances that he told me, I thought it lﬁﬂld " 
@ good thing for him to be acquitted. | |
Q Now, I only want to state to youﬁthiis You dld'nﬂtA
believe at the time you consulted with.Rich&in; thaf,yﬂﬂ u
were violating any-- A (Interrupting) 'oll,‘I went there
to ask him to give me the real faets im the matter, and if he
told us the truth, just the way it is, we would let the matter
g0 that way; Jjust to tell us the truth, and to use him as &
witness, even if his testimony waa_against the prisoners

s

Q VWell, you heard him testify here to-day? A Not all il
of it.

|

Q Well, I substantially stated what he told you, but

I only wanted to set you straight, that you did mot believe



that you were v_‘innntifu any rules A No, I
in the interests of Mr, Ackovitz., |

Q Aud as & general thing, you m«mut
not the right thing‘ to go to the People's '“‘.m
out what they know? A Had he been & witness fﬂ" ..
Mr. O'Connor? e

Q Yes, he was, but I do not think ymm.;g Suri
by it. I only wanted to ‘se.t. you ntrnght, oomﬁlm

A To,

WILLIAM FRIEDMATYN ,"boaag nslikﬁxinﬁ'
sworn as a witness on behalf of tho Mom,
testified as follows: |

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EINSOHN:

Q Where do you reside? A 227 East ,1‘501;11 ntl-',fa’l;k

Q What is your Occupation, Mr. Friedman? A Ep to the
present, I have been in the Jonlry' businesss

Q DO you know the defendant here, Leopolt Aekovitz?

A Yes. -

Q How long & time have you known him? A About two
and a palf yearse

Q@ HOow did ypou become ao:qudinted with him? A He
lived by & friend of mine about twand a half years ago,

and in last April he moved with me, he lived with me.
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Q Boarded with you? A ves, sir.
Q During the time he bdoarded wuhwu,
observe his habits and conduct? A ves, at¥a
Q And his temper? A Yes, sire
Q Did you notice any particular spirit of ag
ness about ﬁim? i
UR, O'CONNOR: Objected to, as not the prope
way Of proving a man's reputation Orgoﬁlrittir;lé
Objection sustainede - 2
MR, EINSOHN: wMay I not, or am I not entitled “
prove in the case that the defendant was a#t.éf:il !
aggressive nature? ‘ ' -
THE COURT: You can prove that, if you ickfthQiif
queétiOns. It is the form Qr“yOur question thu¢ 1lk .
Objected to. .
Q Did you notice, did he ever get into fightp 'whtlu‘
he was living with you? ‘ ‘ a7
Objected to. ObJection sustaineds Exception.
Q Did you notice any bad habits about hiiﬂ
MR. O'CONNOR: Objected t0 as t0 form.
Objeection sustainede. ‘
Q What is his general reputation? T
MR, O'CONNOR: NO, The question should be: De
you «now the defendant, and do you know Other peodple

that know him ih the community in which he resides,
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ui ml. what is his general 1
‘ quietnesse

THE COURT: Put the qgl';tito\u
way, counsel, and then you will bring out w!
want, and that will Ohviqto.lnw Otdoiﬁﬁiiggf
BY MR. EINSOHN oo

Q What is his general repntat:lou-- h m-

MR. O'CONNOR: No, Does ha know tha

how long he knows him; dooaha knnw ogh.r .
: do know the defendant, and then if lu hm mx !

deferjdant's reputation is.
BY THE O URT: e

Q Now, do you know Other people who kpow»tﬁiifﬁSQ‘f
fendant? A Yes, sir, I do.
BY MR, EINSOHN‘

Q@ VWhat is his general reputation, if you kn#l, e
peace and'quietneaa? A W3115 I never heard h1: t°“tQ #ﬁ
trouble with any other fei;ow. | |

Q@ Is it good or bad? A Good.

y MR, O'CONNOR: ©No ¢ross examinations

(It is conceded by the Di-trict Attorney that thp

defendant was never oonvictcd of crimes.)

MR, O'CONNOR: I am not attacking the defendant's



Chlrictlf.

MORRIS WINETSKY, being called

as a witness on behalf of the
2 -  as follows: ' :
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. EINSOHN:
. Q Where do you reside? A 18’5‘ ﬂluh
Q What is your occupation? A Dnhr ’
Q Do you know the defendant Leopo:

he used to work fOor mes

Q HOw long have you known him? A

“”“’". : He worked last year with me.

Q How long did he work for 'yOu?‘ A TFive
Q And during that time did you Observe his ha

A He was a nice fellow.

il

Q DO you know people who know Ackovitz? A ¥No, I

dOn'-t know the peOple, Only hinQ
Q@ Did you know anybody at 511_ who kaow I-Q'ipblt
Ackovitz? A I know his brO;;hern- b
- Q And d0 you know what thé gpnoral.re‘putatiau of
Ackovitz was for peace and_quiotneu? A mnl a ‘hica_ ‘
fellow. . 2o |
Q Wae it good Oor bad? A He was goode

MR, O'CONNOR: No cross examinations



T MOLOE BIRSORE,

~. sworn, as & witness om
testified as ‘fbll.nﬂ

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SIEGEL: »

Q wmMre Bihsohn, you are an attornpygﬂ? .

attorney of reclord -'tOr tho-dorehdnf Loﬂydt

A I ame

here? A I did. ‘ 4
Q@ Do you recollect a certain oounrntuuyﬂu he
the witness Richter on Election Day aﬁ hiu -Wi?i | Q
Q will you state to what 'fowt,, or, um
the conversation, that &ou had with _thiu'yitn"o'a’l.#‘hﬁ |
the time and place? A 1 did ‘not' want t0 be bothtm“-ﬂﬁ
anyvc'r‘i!ll:lnal case, unless I ﬁ_s ahaﬂutoly lw- thﬂ w ,. o
man was imiOcent-- | ‘
MR. O'CONNOR: I move to strike that oute _
THE COURT: Strike it outg' dGot right cm»
the conversation. ' " .‘ o
A (Continuing) I had heard that Richter=- |
MR. O'CONNOR: I move to atrikrﬁmt out.
THE COURT: Strike it out.

MR, smcm.é The fomor question is wi

Q You called on the witness Richter? A I did.

Q Vhy did you'call on him?



said, "No, I do not; the only thing I know about it

MR, O'CONNOR: Objected tos (o
THE COURT: Sustained as immaterdals
A I called upon Richter and I asked i

he knew anything about the assault upon Mr. Weiss,

that I worked in the same bakery, with Sander Weiss ut

Leopolt Ackovitz, and that on September 15th, 1906, “I lﬁ@,
the place, the bakary,,after Ackovitz and Petrowitoh, tll |
when I came up tO0 the house where Sander Weiss wae littag,;
the entire affair was over," and I ‘thereupon ssked him
whether he saw Ackovitz strike Wbiaa, and he saidy "No."
I said-- I state that upOn my oath as an nttoraly lai f%
counsellor at law. |
MR, O'CONNOR: Well, that does not make it ay

more 89 than if you were not.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, O'CONNOR: 5

Q 7You are the attorney in this case, the attormey of
record, Mr, EinsOhn; is that right? A Yes.

Q Well, you wanted”to use Mr, Richter as your witness,
didn't you? A Certainly. '

Q Did you subpOena him t0 come here as your witness?
A Nb. »

Q Why? A Because I found out he didn't know anything

about the matter.
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‘witness for the People? A No,

T IS o150, v g 7 TR A I . -t

People, in the court, up in the Biutrlbt lbﬁrmt gA 3fwv
didn't know he ever was up in the Diotriot Gﬁurtwv @

Q Did you go to Petrowitch to find out !hﬁt.hi@
A Yes. ‘ : e 3

Q@ And you did not call Petrowitch as & witutnuv ﬁ
A I found out, he told me he was already a vitnoau ftrwiﬁﬁﬁ_
People. : ‘

Q@ He did not know anything about being @ vitaaa.?
A I don't know what he knew, or did not kno'- |

Q ‘DO you mean to say that Petrowitch told you he was a

witness for the PeOple? A Yese

Q He said, in thoss words, that he was a witnmess for
the People? A No, not "Witness for fhe Pooplo;‘ |

Q@ Well, what did he say toAyou; <n0i; tell us?
A That he was a witness, that the.Diatricf Attorney had
called him, or smething of that kind; I cannot remember:
just what he said.

Q@ Well, did he not tell you what he saw take place
there? A Yes.

Q we told you that he saw Mr. Ackovitz strike

Mr., Welss, didn't he? A Yes.

Q You did not call him for your witness, did you?
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New York, January 30th, 190!

TRIAL RESUMED.
MK, SIEGEL:; The defence rests.

MR, O'CONNOR: The People rest.

MR, BINSOHN: If your Homor please, I ug;tii°
new the motion to compel the Psople tQ'Qllﬁtiﬁﬁ§l 
which count they intend to go to the Jurj Q->nob.d§‘
whic h count, but rather on which crimtf

There sre two separate crimes chargcd»in the
indictment: one, maiming§ the other, assault 1n~ﬁho
first degree. The alement; of maiming, accdrding'iofkﬁ
the code, are th;gwthe defendant must have an intont: 
to commit a‘fe;ony?*\I do ﬁot bsliavc't£e Peop1e
W ve shown any intent whatever to commit any felony=-
or to injure, disfipure or to disable --; I do nmot
think they have shown any intent upon the part of
the defendant to dis figure or diséblc,.outsidc of
the PreBumptive evidence as provided by the statute
of tﬂu infliction of the injury itself. v .

In ¢ cese of this kind, where there is no evid-
ence whatever of any pfcvious preparatipn on thc

part of the defendant to perpetrate a crime, in viesw

of the testimony offered by the defence, I do not




|
ii
{
i
i
i
if
I
if:

”that the Peoplo have failed to show the Oiﬁﬂﬁltt'

believe the testimony is of t&!ﬁ&‘
wcight t0 even take it to the Jur:n !
dismizs, on tho ground thnt the Pcopl‘ ‘
therefore, proven the elements of the or&ntrdf
ing.:.

I move to dismiss the indictmsht oa]i

the crime of assault in the first degrot. ? f2h§;

Penal Code provldcs --sec+ion 217 -- thnt th..ﬁifdudﬁfjw';T 

ant to be convictcd of this crimo, muat be ihnun to
have an intent to kill a human being -- Qf}QOQtig,
no_thi‘n;,«c of that »kind is shown hcr; ‘---.' or ‘koﬂﬁm
a felony upon +he person or prOperty'of the. one as-
saulted. ¥o felony is shown to hawc been 1nt0ndod
by the dofendaht, outside of this caqual occurrcncc,
whic h really was a fight, a street brawl, and the
code further provides that a pcr;on w1th such intént,
Sither to com@it a felony or to kill 2 human béing,
assaults another with & logded firearm -- df.courli '
that is not in the case -- or any other doadly w.apoh,
or by any other means or force likely to produce
death.

The People have corfainly ngt showm that the de-

fendant went to the place where the complainant was




iy wupbn. , x,'f.‘“’wn;..m;iw

of the People of a deadly weapon be

nesses called for the People, #*ﬁ,in

of the occurrence, Itltﬂ'Po‘iti‘.A$ .

not see any knife in the possession o

- Under thosc_circumntanccl;witgfi

stand: maiming, or aula.uit in the first d gree,

np ke my motions separatdly‘ﬁs,ﬁo_oach coﬁaﬁff;
éompel an election. o ‘ ; o   ;£*;:;“

THE COUKT: I will demy your mmtibn,‘éﬁggsgf;i'
: | MR, BEINS OHN: Exéoption. : “‘;'j£ “
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